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The National Park Service provided support for this Historic Structure Report
through its National Recreation and Preservation (NR&P) program which
supports historic preservation efforts to the owners of historic structures listed
or determined eligible for the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP).
Legislative authority for technical assistance originates with the Antiquities Act
of 1906 which established the federal government’s efforts to develop public
policy for the preservation of cultural resources. The Historic Sites Act of 1935
made cultural resource preservation national policy and assigned the Secretary
of the Interior the responsibility to carry this policy, and specifically gave
the National Park Service the role to carry out this mission on behalf of the
Secretary. The act explicitly stresses technical assistance to and partnerships
with states, local communities, and associations and the importance of
providing an active “educational program” to the public on the story told by
our nation’s important historic properties. The National Historic Preservation
Act (NHPA) of 1966 (as amended) reaffirmed historic preservation as a national
policy and elaborated on the mission the National Park Service fulfills on behalf
of the Secretary such as maintaining the National Register and carrying out
the National Historic Landmarks program. And finally, the Alaska National
Interest Lands Conservation Action (ANILCA) (1980) specifically speaks to the
Secretary of the Interior providing historic preservation advice and technical
assistance to Alaska Native Corporations and Native Groups. ANILCA
underscores the National Park Service’s unique obligation in Alaska to deliver
historic preservation services through the National Register Programs.

Photographs:
All existing conditions photographs were taken by the project team in October 2020 unless stated otherwise.
Cover Image:

See House, looking northeast, c.1904-1910, St. Peter's by-the-Sea Archives.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1. Executive Summary

INTRODUCTION

Completed under NPS IDIQ Task Order Number 140P2020F0303, this Historic
Structure Report (HSR) for the See House was developed by a consultant team
consisting of FFA Architecture and Interiors, Inc. and architecture + history, llc,
with input and guidance from St. Peter's by-the Sea Episcopal Church and the
National Park Service staff at the Alaska Regional Office and Channel Islands
National Park.Though NPS provided guidance and support for this project, the
St. Peter's by-the-Sea HSR serves as an stand-alone document, independent of
the NPS.

The St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Episcopal Church was constructed in 1899, followed
by the construction of the See House in 1905. The buildings are among
the earliest constructed by the Episcopal Church in Alaska and are both
architecturally and historically significant for their association with exploration
and settlement of Alaska. The church and adjacent See House are said to have
been built by Alaska's first Bishop, Peter Trimble Rowe. The See House served as
aresidence for Bishop Rowe and his family until he relocated to Seattle in 1912.
The complex and individual buildings continue to remain as an important place
of worship and gathering for the community of Sitka.

PURPOSE

Historic Structure Reports (HSR) are the primary planning documents for
historicresource treatment projects. Historic resources are buildings, structures,
objects, sites, and historic districts that are eligible for listing or already listed
on the National Register of Historic Places. The Secretary of the Interior’s
Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties defines four treatments for
historic resources: preservation, rehabilitation, restoration, and reconstruction.
These treatments guide the recommendations put forward in an HSR.

SCOPE

As defined by the National Park Service Preservation Brief 43, a historic
structure report serves as a reference document that provides documentary,
graphic, and physical information regarding a property’s history and existing
conditions. The report records research findings, investigative analysis, and
evaluation of physical conditions. HSRs document the existing conditions
of a building, changes over time, and serve as a basis for proposing physical
changes. Historic structure reports are broadly recognized as an effective
aspect of preservation planning, management, and use that outlines a scope of
recommended work and provides thoughtful arguments for selecting the most
appropriate treatment approach. An HSR is an important guide that is intended
to serve as a basis for future maintenance, repair, and any potential changes
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made to a historic property during preservation, rehabilitation, restoration,
and reconstruction. The development of an HSR is the preferred first phase
of any historic preservation effort, preceding design and implementation of
the selected treatment and use for the property. The level of detail to which
the work items are defined should be limited in the historic structure report,
as these recommendations serve as the foundation for, rather than in place of,
design and construction documents for the work.

METHODOLOGY

The information included in this report stems from extensive research of
primary and secondary source materials and comprehensive field observations
of the buildings and site. The HSR follows the National Park Service’s Technical
Preservation Service’s Preservation Brief 43: The Preparation and Use of
Historic Structure Reports (2004) by Deborah Slaton. The HSR includes a
developmental history of the site, descriptive information, identification of
character-defining features, a conditions assessment for the buildings, an
assessment of the overall integrity of the resources, and recommendations for
future treatment and use.

Primary research materials were located at the following repositories:

1) St. Peters Church Archives, located at St. Peter's by-the-Sea Episcopal
Church in Sitka, Alaska

2) Archives of the Episcopal Church, located in Austin, Texas

3) Sitka History Museum, located in Sitka, Alaska. All existing conditions
photographs were taken by the project team in October 2020

Special thanks to vestry members Linda Trierschield and Anne Pollnow, and
St. Peter's by-the-Sea Archivist, Gail Peterson. The current project team thanks
Grant Crosby, Senior Historical Architect, National Park Service- Region 11 for
his assistance and involvement.

SUMMARY STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The St. Peter's by-the-Sea Episcopal Church and See House were individually
listed on the National Register of Historic Places in 1978. The early-era
National Register nominations did not specify which criterion the buildings
are eligible under. It is assumed that if the buildings were evaluated today, they
would be eligible under Criterion B, at the statewide level, for their association
with Bishop Trimble. They would also be eligible under Criterion C, at the local
level, as a significant example of a Gothic Revival church with stone detailing
and a Shingle Style house.

SUMMARY INTEGRITY ASSESSMENT

The St. Peter's by-the-Sea Episcopal Church and the See House both retain a
high degree of historic integrity. The church building sits in its original location,
as does the See House to the north. In design, the church has undergone a series
of alterations, none of which impair its overall integrity. The setting of the church
has been moderately changed from when it was originally built, primarily due to
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

the asphalt paving on the property to accommodate vehicles. The materials of
both buildings are largely intact or replaced in kind, and while there have been
some maintenance repairs over time, these interventions have not significantly
impaired the integrity of the materials. The roofing material of the See House
has been changed, but the roof shape and its form is intact. The church
retains the strong feeling of a small, rural church in Sitka, Alaska and conveys
its original Gothic Revival style and design in its features and construction
methods. The See House conveys its Shingle style design through its materials
and architectural elements. The present integrity of the workmanship, through
years of careful stewardship by the congregation, is high. St. Peter’s by-the-Sea
and the See house have retained their association with Bishop Peter Trimble
Rowe and the Episcopal Diocese of Alaska.

SUMMARY CONDITIONS ASSESSMENT

The overall condition of the See House is fair with some localized areas of
deterioration that require maintenance and correction. Primary condition issues
identified are related to roof runoff and moisture intrusion that has infiltrated
exterior walls, causing damage to interior spaces and finishes. The mortar crack
on the exterior masonry wall at the west facade requires repair and repointing,
while other character-defining features of the building, including the entry
door and windows, are in overall fair condition but require varying degrees of
restoration. Though some modifications to interior spaces have occurred over
time, significant historic finishes in the interior are primariliy intact and are in
overall fair condition.

SUMMARY OF FUTURE NEEDS AND TREATMENT
RECOMMENDATIONS

Considering the building’s change in historic use, it is recommended that the
approach to future projects or upgrades proposed for the See House follow the
Rehabilitation treatment approach as defined by the Secretary of the Interior’s
Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties. Recommended treatment
will continue to preserve significant features that convey the building’s historic
character, while following Secretary of Interior’s Standards treatment guidelines
that prioritize repair over replacement. Repairs and ongoing maintenance will
ensure the preservation of historic materials, character defining features, and
the historic character of the See House. Rehabilitation as a treatment approach
will provide the congregation with flexibility for future changes, as well as
address and improve site and building accessibility, building egress, structural
systems, building envelope performance, and interior finishes.
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ADMINISTRATIVE DATA

2. Administrative Data

SITE AND BUILDINGS NOMENCLATURE

The See House interior room titles and numbers referenced in this HSR
document reflect the interior titles described in the 2003 "Exterior Restoration
of the See House" drawing set. Corresponding Alaska Heritage Resource
Survey (AHRS) building numbers are as listed:

Preferred Structure Name See House
Building Address 611 Lincoln St, Sitka, AK 99835
Alaska Heritage Resources Survey SIT-195
Structure County Sitka
Structure State Alaska
Period of Significance 1905 - 1912

NATIONAL REGISTER STATUS

The St. Peter's by-the-Sea Episcopal Church and See House were listed
individually on the National Register of Historic Places in 1978.

SHORT SIGNIFICANCE DESCRIPTION

The early-era National Register nominations did not specify which criterion the
buildings are eligible under. It is assumed that if the buildings were evaluated
today, they would be eligible under Criterion B, at the statewide level, for their
association with Bishop Trimble. They would also be eligible under Criterion C,
at the local level, as a significant example of a Gothic Revival church with stone
detailing and a Shingle Style house.
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PERIOD OF SIGNIFICANCE

The period of significance for the St. Peter's by-the-Sea Episcopal Church is
1899, when it was constructed, to 1912 when Bishop Rowe moved to Seattle. The
period of significance for the See House is from 1905, when it was completed,
to 1912 when Bishop Rowe moved to Seattle.

DIRECTIONAL INFORMATION

With regard to the compass orientation of the building and simplicity of
describing facades of the building, directional language assumes the front
elevation is facing south toward Crescent Bay, when in fact it faces slightly
southwest. Both St. Peters-by-the-Sea and the See House are assumed to be
oriented north-south for the purposes of this report.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

3. Statement of Significance

PREVIOUS EVALUATIONS

St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Episcopal Church was designed by Philadelphia architect
Herman L. Duhring for a site he never visited and client he may not have met,
Bishop Peter Trimble Rowe, who was the first Episcopal Bishop of Alaska. The
church and the adjacent See House are significant for both their architecture
and their historical association with exploration and settlement of Alaska. The
buildings are associated with the early development of the Episcopal Church
in Alaska and with Bishop Rowe. The church was completed first in 1899
and the See House finished several years later by 1905. The two buildings are
intrinsically linked both physically and historically.

The church, executed in the Gothic Revival style, is one of the few stone
buildings in Alaska and is constructed of heavy timbering above a random
rubble stone foundation. The upper portion of the exterior walls and the roof
are sheathed in wood shingles. The building is characteristic of small Episcopal
Churches, with Gothic and Richardsonian references, a cruciform plan, stone
buttresses and several well-crafted, stained glass windows, including a rose
window at the entry facade. The interior is simple, but exquisitely designed,
with exposed wood scissor trusses ceiling and wood wainscot and flooring. The
church retains its original wood pews with simple trefoil decorative cut outs at
the ends. There are a number of well-designed stained glass windows.

The See House is emblematic of the Shingle style as it was evolving in the late
1890s in the United States. The house also has Queen Anne style influences. At
the exterior, the house has a series of bay windows and dormers with decorative
shingling and stone work. There are leaded glass windows and the front porch
is also reflective of the Shingle style. The primary interior first floor rooms have
a board and batten wood wainscot with a molded plate rail. The battens are
over plaster which was then subsequently adorned with a burlap finish. The
upstairs rooms were originally bedrooms organized around a generous hallway.
The building, which received a rear addition in 1956, now serves as the church
rectory and has a small residential apartment above the rear addition. The
building was constructed by Bishop Rowe himself and was his family home
from 1905 to 1912.

The buildings are among the first constructed by the Episcopal Church in Alaska
and are said to have been built by the Bishop’s own hand. While Bishop Rowe
did not remain in Sitka long, decamping to Seattle by 1912 as the importance
of Sitka in Alaska’s trade and politics dwindled, upon his death, Bishop Rowe
was interred adjacent to St. Peter’s alongside the graves of his first wife and a
son. The two buildings complement each other forming a significant complex
not far from the Russian Bishop’s House (1842-44) along Sitka’s waterfront,
the buildings retain a high level of historic integrity including location, design,
setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and association.
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The buildings were listed individually on the National Register of Historic
Places in 1978. However, the early-era National Register nominations did not
specify which criterion the buildings are eligible under. It is assumed that if the
buildings were evaluated today, they would be eligible under Criterion B, at the
statewide level, for their association with Bishop Trimble. They would also be
eligible under Criterion C, at the local level, as a significant example of a Gothic
Revival church with stone detailing and a Shingle Style house.

PERIOD OF SIGNIFICANCE

The period of significance for the church is 1899, when it was constructed, to
1912 when Bishop Rowe moved to Seattle. The period of significance for the
See House is from 1905, when it was completed to 1912 when Bishop Rowe
moved to Seattle.

The earlier National Register nomination summarized the importance of
Bishop Rowe’s association with the See House noting:

There are many fine houses in Sitka, and also in other communities in
Alaska. However, this is the only house in all Alaska, conceived and built
by one who stands among the foremost humanitarian figures in the history
of the Territory and state. Its design was unusual and was his own unique
contribution. The construction was unusual, and was his own unique
contribution. The years between 1905 and 1912 when Bishop Rowe and
his family occupied the house were seminal years for the Territory, for the
development of the large number of hospitals, clinics, libraries, orphanages,
and mission churches, that he located, instigated, staffed, and nurtured; and
they, too, were his unique contribution. For that period of time this house
stands as his home place, the home to which he returned, planned for the
future, and then set out again for journeys which in number, length, and
difficulty, are yet unequaled by any man in the modern history of Alaska as
a Territory or a state.
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DEVELOPMENTAL HISTORY

4. Developmental History

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT

CRITERION B: ASSOCIATION WITH BISHOP PETER
TRIMBLE ROWE

The See House is eligible for the National Register of Historic Places under
Criterion B, important persons, at the statewide level, for its association
with Bishop Peter Trimble Rowe, the first Episcopal Bishop of Alaska whose
religious and humanitarian efforts to found churches, orphanages, hospitals,
and educational institutions are still felt in Alaska today.

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE EPISCOPAL CHURCH IN SITKA,
ALASKA

Lay Episcopal services were first held in Sitka in 1867 and were led by an
unnamed Army colonel and later a “Mr. Austin.” Services ceased in 1885 and
did not resume until the first Episcopal Bishop of Alaska, Peter Trimble Rowe,
arrived in Sitka in April 1896.' Sitka, being the capital of the Alaska territory at
the time was selected as Bishop Rowe’s seat and the location from which he
planned his travel around Alaska (Figure 4.1).

Froparty of University of Washinglon Libranies, Snecial Collactions

Figure 4.1: Sketch of Sitka, c.1900. Source: University of Washington Libraries, Special
Collections, Charles S. Hubbell Photograph Collection. PH Coll 1154.79.
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Figure 4.2: Bishop Rowe shortly after his consecration.
Source: Man of Alaska.

Figure 4.3: Dora Henriette Carry Rowe. Source: Man of
Alaska.

The previous fall, November 1895, Rowe had been
consecrated in the Cathedral of St. John the Divine
in New York City.> The following spring, Rowe
found himself almost 3,000 miles away in Alaska, to
establish Mission outposts of the Episcopal Church.
Rowe, a Canadian, was born in Meadowvale, a small
village, west of Toronto, near Lake Ontario, Canada,
in 1856. His father held various jobs as a miller,
postman, farmer, and coach driver and his mother,
who may have been a governess before marriage,
encouraged the education of her children. His
family later moved to Clarksburg, Ontario, which
sits on Lake Huron’s Georgian Bay, where they
owned a farm.?

It was in Clarksburg, that Rowe came under the
tutelage of a local clergyman and with his mother’s
encouragement prepared for college. Rowe entered
Trinity College at the University of Toronto in 1875,
but remained in residence only one year, apparently
completing his degree through remote study. “The
Degree book shows that the Convocation met on
July 2, 1880, and that the degree of Bachelor of Arts
was conferred on Peter Trible Rowe on that day.”*
That same year he was ordained as an Episcopal
priest and assigned to an Indian Reservation in
the Algomar District near Garden River, Ontario
(Figure 4.2). In 1882, he married, Dora Henriette
Carry (Figure 4.3), the daughter of the rector of
the church at Port Kerry, Reverend Carry, who was
somewhat of a mentor to Rowe. Soon after their
marriage, the Rowe’s took up a new parish at St.
James in Saulte St. Marie, Michigan. The Rowe’s
remained in Michigan and started a family with two
sons arriving, the first in 1884 and the other in 1887.
By 1894, Rowe had become a United State citizen
and the following year he was elected Bishop of
Alaska.’

A history of the Episcopal Church in Alaska noted of
Rowe that after ordination he:

. . worked as missionary to the Ojibways from
1878 to 1882. For the next fourteen years he was
in charge of eleven scattered missions among
white people, with his headquarters in Sault St.
Marie, Michigan. So when he went to Alaska he
had already had many years’ acquaintance with
vigorous outdoor life and with the means and
methods of primitive travel.®

A lengthy article about Bishop Rowe’s consecration
appeared in the New York Times on December 1,
1895, accompanied by a sketch portrait of Rowe
(Figure 4.4). The article noted that Rowe spoke of
his past work in Michigan and its relevance to his
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new church assignment in Alaska.

Mr. Rowe, in his quiet, modest way, related
several expeditions of this sort. He dwelt briefly
on the hardships he had undergone in the cold,
lonely little mission house in the forests of Garden
River, modestly leaving it to the imagination of
his listener to form an idea of how much he had
suffered, and how much he had toiled for the poor
people among whom his missionary work lay. . .
Mr. Rowe founded sixteen missions in five years. ’

Upon his consecration in New York in November
1895, Rowe joined four other missionary Episcopal
bishops including China, Japan, Haiti and Liberia.
The United States acquired Alaska from Russia in
1867 through a deal negotiated by the Secretary
of State William Seward. First administered as a
Department, Alaska became a district in 1884.
Sitka had been the capital of Russian Alaska and
remained the territorial capital under the United
States until 1900 when the governmental center was
moved to Juneau. Therefore, when Bishop Rowe
began to plan for his new assignment, he looked to
Sitka to serve as his home and seat. His first trip to
Sitka in April 1896 pre-dated news of gold in the
Yukon by several months; however, the now famous
stampede of prospective miners would not fully
escalate until the following spring. The bishop was
a first-hand witness to the trials and tribulations of
the miners and Alaska Natives as the Yukon Gold
Rush progressed over the next few years.

Upon arriving in Sitka in April 1896, Rowe secured
quarters for his family and departed for Skagway
so he could experience the Chilkoot Trail into the
Yukon and familiarize himself with the territory.
Upon his return to Sitka in November, Bishop Rowe
conducted services on Thanksgiving Day, November
26,1896, in Sitka’s Presbyterian chapel, as there was
not an Episcopal church building. Indeed, at that
time, Episcopal services in Alaska were conducted
in cabin chapels or borrowed facilities from other
denominations. Bishop Rowe immediately set about
to build a church for his new Bishopric.®

The next year, the Proctor family donated $2,000.00
toward a church for the Alaska territory. By 1899,
ground was broken for the church and Bishop Rowe
began the laborious task of building the church.
While he likely had help, the bishop himself oversaw
the construction and labored many days toward its
completion (Figure 4.5).

In the meantime, Bishop Rowe was busy with other
travel around Alaska and establishing his Mission in

‘PIRST BISHOP OF ALASKA

Consectation of the Rev. Peter Trimble

. Rowe,

 SOLEMS SERVICES IN ST. GEOBGE'

_'_'_.l_‘h_e_ﬁew Bishop's Trying Experienccs
SRR Among the Indians of the =

Figure 4.4: New York Times article 1895.

Figure 4.5: Early view of St. Peter’s with Bishop Rowe.
Source: St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Archives.
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what was a severe climate with many travel impediments. When he arrived in
Sitka, the Russian Orthodox Church was, of course, firmly in place having built
a beautiful church, St. Michael the Archangel from 1844 to 1848. The Lutherans
built a church in Sitka, in close proximity to St. Michael’s, also in the 1840s.
Additionally, Bishop Rowe found that the Presbyterians were well established
in Sitka with having founded a school in 1878 that later became Sheldon Jackson
College. The Presbyterian Church began a Sitka presence in 1884.

Bishop Rowe was tireless in his pursuit to explore Alaska and perform his
mission work. The Daily Morning Alaskan of Skagway published a long article
about the bishop on March 23, 1900. It stated:

The Right Rev. Bishop Rowe, who arrived from Juneau .. . will stay in this city
until the opening of navigation on the Yukon, at which time he will start on
a trip of thousands of miles and one that will require a year to accomplish.
Before leaving the bishop hopes to start work for the building of an Episcopal
church in Skagway. The proposed trip will lead the bishop to the full length of
the Yukon River and far up the coast into the Arctic region. The journey is to be
made in the furtherance of his church work. . . ‘I shall remain in Skagway until
the river opens, and then by easy stages travel down the Yukon on steamer. I
shall call and visit all the Episcopal missions on the river, then proceed north
to Nome and establish a mission there. After arranging matters at Nome I
shall push 100 miles to the northward of Bering straits to visit Esquimaux
missions of our church in the Arctic region. On the Yukon we have missions
at Circle, Fort Yukon, Fort Hamilton, Rampart, Tanana, Nowikata, and Anvik.
No other church has as many missions in the Yukon basin. At each mission
we have a school and a church in charge of a missionary, and assisting him
in some cases two or three natives, two or three laymen and a staff of two or
three women. At Circle and Rampart we have hospitals, which are similar to
our hospital in Skagway. . . During my absence Mrs. Rowe, who is in Skagway
with me, will remain on the coast and will likely spend the greater part of the
time in Sitka.’

Rowe was expanding on mission work that commenced years earlier by the
Church of England but was taken over by the Episcopal Missions in the 1880s.
By 1904 it was apparent that the bishop was fully ensconced in his Alaska work
and required a more permanent home for himself and his family. He began work
on the See House, behind St. Peter’s in Sitka and it was completed in 1905. This
home became the center of his work and mission service in Alaska (Figure 4.6).

Rowe was tremendously successful and well-liked in his work in Alaska. He
worked tirelessly from his appointment in 1895 until his death in 1942 to
improve the medical and hospital facilities, educational facilities, libraries, and
orphanages serving the Alaska Native community.

A 1912 article in Travel noted:

In the bend of the bay, where one catches a distant glimpse of the ocean, gray
and far away, stands Saint Peter’s-by-the-Sea, a beautiful little stone church
built, largely by the labor of his own hands, by the Very Reverend Peter
Trimble Rowe, the beloved Bishop of Alaska. The story of this man and his
yearly journeys by dogsled to the most northern corners of his diocese, reads
like a page from some old-time book of devotion, and brings every year more
recognition and cooperation from the civilized East.™

As the bishop’s church St. Peter’s was the most important Episcopal edifice in
Alaska. In addition, the church was in the region’s key city. As the capital of
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the District of Alaska from its purchase, Sitka held
political and cultural influence. However, after the
Klondike Gold Rush in the late nineteenth century,
Juneau usurped Sitka in influence, and in 1906, the
seat of government was relocated to that city. With
the transfer of the capital, all the district officials
and courts moved to the new government seat. In
addition, the District of Alaska became the Territory
of Alaska further increasing its consequence. As a
result of this change, Sitka’s political and economic
importance declined. With the diminishing
influence of Sitka, as well as health concerns for
his wife, Bishop Rowe to move his family to Seattle,
Washington in 1912. However, he continued his
yearly, lengthy trips traveling throughout Alaska
and to the East Coast, to interact with the donors
from whom he received moral, legal, and financial
support.

Rowe remained Bishop of Alaska and for the rest
of his life traveled to Alaska yearly for months on
end. Dora died in May 1914 and was interred in the
church yard at St. Peter’s by-the-Sea. A year later,
in April 1915, his youngest son Cyril also died. In
October 1915 Bishop Rowe remarried. His second
wife, Rose Fullerton, was considerably younger and
gave him three more children (Figure 4.7).

Time magazine reported on the state of the Episcopal
Church missionary work in its October 22, 1934
edition:

Finally, the advocates of missions were cheered by
a defense made by the 20 missionary bishops who
had gone to Atlantic City, and especially by the
appearance of 77-year-old Bishop Peter Trimble
Rowe. Most famed of Episcopal missionaries, he
had journeyed down from Alaska where he has
labored for 39 years, been put in books by Rex
Beach and Jack London, and mushed, navigated
and flown over 50,000 miles of Arctic wastes.
Bishop Rowe is not yet ready to put his parka and
fur boots in mothballs — unless his Church forces
him to.

On the anniversary of his 85th year, long time Alaska
newspaperman Frank Cotter wrote:

Bishop Rowe was not content to build churches
alone in Alaska. As soon as a church was
completed, he would start work on a hospital,
and as soon as the hospital was ready to aid the
sick and ailing pioneers, he would start building a
schoolhouse. Around many of the monuments he
has left in the North, we now have thriving little
villages and trading posts and through all of these

Figure 4.6: Early view of the completed See House. Source:
St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Archives.

Figure 4.7: Rose Fullerton Rowe. Source: Man of Alaska.
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communities runs the golden thread of the memory of a kindly man who
came to serve.

What Frank Cotter did not capture in his article was the constant work of Bishop
Rowe to build relationships with the Alaska Natives. While Rowe’s purpose
was missionary in nature, he admired, respected, and tried to understand the
community in which he served, seeking to make living conditions better through
providing a range of services (Figure 4.8).

The earlier National Register nomination summarized the importance of
Bishop Rowe’s association to St. Peter’s by-the-Sea and See House noting:

There are many fine houses in Sitka, and also in other communities in Alaska.
However, this is the only house in all Alaska, conceived and built by one who
stands among the foremost humanitarian figures in the history of the Territory
and state. Its design was unusual and was his own unique contribution. The
construction was unusual and was his own unique contribution. The years
between 1905 and 1912 when Bishop Rowe and his family occupied the
house were seminal years for the Territory, for the development of the large
number of hospitals, clinics, libraries, orphanages, and mission churches, that
he located, instigated, staffed, and nurtured; and they, too, were his unique
contribution. For that period of time this house stands as his home place, the
home to which he returned, planned for the future, and then set out again for
journeys which in number, length, and difficulty, are yet unequaled by any
man in the modern history of Alaska as a Territory or a state. !

The connection between St. Peter’s by-the-Sea and Bishop Rowe and his family
were reestablished after the remains of Rowe, the first Episcopal Bishop of
Alaska, and his first wife, Dora, and two of their sons, were interred in front of
the church and memorialized with simple, unobtrusive, engraved, ground-level
gravestones (Figure 4.9).

Figure 4.8: Bishop Rowe with Delatuck, a Kobuk Eskimo, and Maggie, an Athabascan Indian
(Koyukuk), circa 1905. Source: Walter and Lillian Phillips Photograph Collection, Alaska and
Polar Regions Collections, ElImer E. Rasmuson Library, University of Alaska Fairbanks UAF-
1985-72-141.
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CRITERION C: EXCELLENT EXAMPLE OF SHINGLE
STYLE HOUSE

The See House is eligible for the National Register of Historic Places under
Criterion C, architecture, at the local level, as an excellent example of a Shingle
Style house designed by Philadelphia master architect Herman Louis Duhring,

Jr.

DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION SEE HOUSE

Completed in 1899, St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Church was designed by Philadelphia
architect, Herman Louis Duhring, Jr. The church occupied the site for five years
before Bishop Rowe began work on a residence for his family, which became
known as the See House, referencing the term used to describe a geographic
area administered by a bishop, a see. Duhring apparently designed the See
House at the same time as the church, but limited resources and manpower
resulted in a delay in construction of the house (Figure 4.10).

It seems likely that Bishop Rowe met with architect Herman Duhring during his
November 1898 visit to Philadelphia. On November 12, 1898 the Philadelphia
Inquirer published a notice that Bishop Rowe would be speaking at the Church

Figure 4.9: Bishop Bentley officiates at the consecration of Bishop Rowe’s gravestone in the
St. Peter’s churchyard. Source: St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Archives.
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of the Holy Apostles in Philadelphia (Figure 4.11)."* The timing of Rowe’s visit
would have been after Duhring’s return from his fellowship-funded travel in
Europe, likely in late summer or early fall 1898. Bishop Rowe built the house,
mostly by his own hand, during a period when his wife was away from Sitka for
health treatments in Victoria (Figure 4.12).

It was in 1905, while Mrs. Rowe was in Victoria for her first operation, that
the Bishop built the See House. He left the following description: ‘Mrs.
Rowe has left Sitka for Victoria for medical treatment. I am alone, not a
new experience. I get my own meals and keep the new house progressing
to a finish. I find it hard after using the trowel or plane, shovel or hammer,
wheelbarrow or paint brush, lifting and placing rocks all day, to handle easily
or conveniently at night so small an article as a pen. Building this house is a
pretty difficult contract in Sitka, owning to the scarcity of good workmen and
the long delayed shipments of material. While the house is going to be the
most complete thing of the kind in Alaska, yet it ties me down, and will do so
until November. 13

The Rowe family lived in the home from its completion in 1905 until 1912 when
they moved to Seattle (Figure 4.13).

For seventeen years the Bishop had his home and headquarters in Sitka.
During the early years of this period Sitka had some importance as the capital.
.. But when the federal government moved the capital to Juneau. . . Sitka seems
isolated. Had conditions continued as they were while governmental business
was carried out in Sitka, the Bishop would probably not have changed his
residence. But now it became imperative to seek a more advantageous center.
.. Since to reach the extreme western and northern missions it was necessary
to sail from Seattle, that city seemed the logical place upon which to fix.

Figure 4.10: An early view of the See House after recent snow fall. Source: St. Peter’s by-the-
Sea Archives.
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Figure 4.11: The Philadelphia Inquirer November 12, 1898. Source: Philadelphia Inquirer indexed in Newspapers.com.

Figure 4.12: An early view of the See House note the driveway, original stair configuration and the chimney rising from the stone
base which corresponds to the interior inglenook. Source: St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Archives.
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There was a further reason. He wanted his family where he could more easily
see them on his return from journeys. Mrs. Rowe’s health was failing. She
needed medical care not available in Sitka.

In 1905 an operation had been required. She had gone to Victoria. Recovering,
she had returned to the home in Sitka, and for some more years the family
continued to reside there. But now there were two sons to consider. One
needed schooling, and Sitka schools were poor. The other was an invalid.
His care was too much for his mother alone; so in 1912, the Bishop and Mrs.
Rowe secured a house on the outskirts of Seattle. The Bishop was to remain
there until 1926.

When the bishop moved, the See House was used by subsequent clergy as their
residence. It was converted to use as the rectory and offices in 1956 when an
addition was constructed at the rear, or north of the See House. This two-story
addition, by carpenter George Nelson, included a large Fellowship Hall at the
lower story, which connected via a large doorway to the dining room of the See
House. At the upper story, a two-bedroom apartment was designed for use by
the assigned clergy (Figures 4.14 and 4.15). Nelson was a carpentry instructor at
Sikta’s Mt. Edgecumbe Boarding School from 1949 — 1958. During this period,
Nelson worked on the St. Peter’s See House addition on weekends.!

From 2003-2004, an extensive restoration project was undertaken at the See
House (Figures 4.16 and 4.17).

Figure 4.13: An early view of the See House. This may be the earliest view dated c.1905-
1910. Note that the shingle siding does not appear to be weathered or stained. Source: St.
Peter’s by-the-Sea Archives.
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Figure 4.14: Drawing sheet by George Nelson for the 1956 addition to the See House illustrating the west and south elevations,
including the entry to the upstairs apartment Source: St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Archives.

Figure 4.15: Drawing sheet by George Nelson for the 1956 addition to the See House illustrating the west, east and south elevations,
including the entry to the upstairs apartment Source: St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Archives.
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Figure 4.16: Photograph of 2003-2004 restoration of the See House. East facade showing installation of new shingles with
underlayment paper installed, looking northwest. Source: St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Archives.

Figure 4.17: Photograph of 2003-2004 restoration of the See House, installation of shingles and repair of doors and windows on
the north facade of the See House, looking south. Source: St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Archives.
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HERMAN LOUIS DUHRING, JR., ARCHITECT

The Philadelphia Enquirer published a small story and image of the completed
Sitka church on August 5, 1900 (Figure 18). The article referenced the architect
Herman Louis Duhring, Jr., and noted the fine quality of the design. However,
it did not mention a house for the Bishop of Alaska who had commissioned the
church.

Duhring was born in Philadelphia in 1874, the son of the Rev. Herman Louis
Dubhring, Sr. and Lucy (Bryant) Duhring. His father, a native Philadelphian, was
an Episcopal Priest of some note, who served as the Dean of the Convocation
of South Philadelphia. The junior Duhring began his education in Philadelphia
public schools, subsequently graduated from the Central Manual Training
School in 1891. Duhring then attended the University of Pennsylvania,
receiving a Bachelor of Architecture in 1895. Additionally, by 1892, Duhring
began a period of office experience, first with the firm Mantle Fielding followed
in 1893 by work with Furness, Evans & Company. Frank Furness was, at the
time, one of Philadelphia’s most significant architects. Furness had studied with
Richard Morris Hunt whose influence permeated American architecture in the
second half of the 19th century. In 1897, Duhring became the first recipient
of the Stewardson Traveling Scholarship, funding European travel for students
from a Pennsylvania architecture school, for his winning design of an assigned
ecclesiastical program: "A Protestant Episcopal Church in a City"!¢ (Figure
4.19).

Figure 4.18: From the Philadelphia Inquirer August 5, 1900. Source: Philadelphia Inquirer as
indexed in Newspapers.com.
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Figure 4.19: A detail of one of the drawings by Herman
Duhring for his award-winning church design, 1897. Source:
Philadelphia Architects and Buildings, an online archive
(www.philadelphiabuildings.org).

Figure 4.20: The William C. Sharpless house in the
Germantown neighborhood of Philadelphia, is an example
of a Queen Anne style residence that architect Duhring
would have been familiar from in the Philadelphia area; note
the very similar prow window at the second story. Source:
National Register of Historic Places, National Register
Information System.

The scholarship enabled Duhring to do extensive
study in Venice, Italy, including, according to
his obituary in the New York Times, completing
measured drawings of the campanile of San Marco
which informed rebuilding the tower after its
collapse in 1902.77

Upon returning to Philadelphia in 1898, Duhring
launched his own firm, followed in 1899 by his
collaboration with R. Brognard Okie and Carl A.
Ziegler under the name of Duhring, Okie & Ziegler.
This firm continued in operation through 1918,
when Okie resigned. Duhring & Ziegler remained
in practice through 1924, with Duhring working
independently following that time.

The early work of Duhring, Okie & Ziegler focused
on residential work and later their interest in the
restoration of Pennsylvania’s landmarks, especially
those of the Colonial Period. Duhring joined
and became an active member of the American
Institute of Architects in 1914 and became a fellow
of the Institute in 1952. He was also active in
Philadelphia’s T-Square Club, was a member of the
Sons of the Revolution, he served on the Board of
the Pennsylvania Academy of the Fine Arts, and was
president of the Architectural Alumni Society of the
University of Pennsylvania. Duhring died in 1953.

A comprehensive list of Duhring’s works does not
seem to exist, but he is known to have designed or
restored several other churches. Additionally, his
primary other type of work appears to have been
residential commissions, including many significant
homes in Philadelphia and the surrounding
communities. No known architectural drawings of
the church or the See House survive.

THE QUEEN ANNE STYLE

The Queen Anne style is one of several Victorian-
era styles popular between 1880 and 1900 and
extending to 1910 in some west coast communities
(Figure 4.20). Typical features of the style were
homes of wood frame construction, sometimes
above a masonry base, and accompanied by
masonry detailing such as chimneys. The hipped
roof with cross gables is the most frequent roof type
within the Queen Anne subtypes. Other common
elements include use of patterned shingles,
cutaway bay windows, and other devices to create
undulating wall surfaces. These houses were
usually asymmetrical, irregular in plan, and often
had full or partial porches on primary facades. Also
typical were windows consisting of large panes of
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glass surrounded by or capped by smaller panes,
often with colored or leaded glass. The gable roofs
frequently extended forward creating an overhang
sometimes supported by brackets. The gable ends
created a decorative surface for wood shingles. '8

THE SHINGLE STYLE

The Shingle style emerged on the New England
shores, blending elements of the earlier Victorian-
era Queen Anne and Stick styles with a more
purely American architecture.’ Several notable
east coast architectural firms helped popularize
the developing style through innovative designs for
large "seaside cottages" commissioned by wealthy
New Englanders. A notable early non-residential
example of the Shingle style was the Newport,
Rhode Island Casino (1880), designed by the New
York architects McKim, Mead & White, and which
became a favorite retreat for Boston’s elite (Figure
4.21).2

Perhaps the most famous Shingle style American
house was “Kragsyde” (1883), the summer home
of Bostonian G. Nixon Black. Designed by Peabody
and Stearns, the house was built atop a rocky
shore near Manchester-By-the-Sea, Massachusetts
(Figure 4.22). Another well-known example of a
few years later is the William G. Low House (1887),
constructed in Bristol, Rhode Island and also
designed by McKim, Mead & White.?! These three
projects epitomize the high mark of the popularity
of the Shingle style on the east coast.

Flourishing between 1880 and 1890 (and continuing
later on the West Coast), the Shingle Style featured
large-scale, wood frame residential structures
sheathed in wood shingles, often intended to
emulate the undulating patterns of masonry.
Typically, the interior consisted of a free-flowing,
open plan with frequent interpenetrations between
interior and exterior space, the houses had open
porches and the irregular roof lines. Additional
common elements include:

« An irregular, complex form with wood shingle
siding (often of several varieties or shapes) on
the entire building;

«  Complex but narrow roof with multiple gables,
combination hip and gable;

« Dormers, eyebrow dormers, conical tower roof
and minimal eave extensions;

Figure 4.21: Newport Rhode Island Casino, designed by
architects McKim, Mead and White. Photograph by Clarence
Stanhope about 1880 shortly after completion. Source:
National Register of Historic Places, National Register
Information System.

Figure 4.22: Kragsyde, by Peabody and Sterns architects,
built for George Nixon Black in Manchester-by-the-Sea,
Massachusetts, between 1883 and 1885. Pictured here in
George William Sheldon’s, Artists Country-Seats: Types
of Recent American Villa and Cottage Architecture with
Instances of Country Club-Houses, published in 1887.
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« Curved surfaces and shapes (curved bays, eyebrow dormers, wide-arched
porch openings, Palladian windows);

« Horizontal emphasis in overall forms;

«  Multi-pane wood windows (casement or double-hung), sometimes over-
scaled;

« Prominent recessed front porch over half of the front , with the other half
of the front dominated by a curved or otherwise distinguished bay; and

«  Brick or stone chimneys.?

In Philadelphia, the hometown of architect Duhring, well-known residential
architect Wilson Eyre was completing houses that similarly bridged the Queen
Anne and the emerging Shingle style in the 1880s and 1890s.2* These homes
would have been familiar to Duhring. In fact, Eyre taught at the University
of Pennsylvania and his influence was felt throughout the program.
(Figure 4.23 ).

The earliest examples of Duhring’s residential work reflect Eyre’s influence on
his work and the work of his firm Duhring, Okie, & Ziegler. The home of George
C. Blabon in Merion, Pennsylvania of 1905 could be termed a grander version
of the Sitka See House. Published in the March 1906 edition of Architectural
Record, the home featured a porch of similar configuration to the See House, an
irregular plan, intersecting gables, bay windows, half timbering, brick chimneys,
and other materials to create an undulating facade (Figure 4.24). At the interior
similar beamed ceilings, prominent fireplaces, and wood flooring and detailing
also show a similar, but grander and perhaps more evolved, design aesthetic to
the earlier See House (Figure 4.25).

Figure 4.23: A woodcut of the home of Charles A. Potter, the Anglecot, designed by
Philadelphia architect Wilson Eyre, a likely mentor of Herman Duhring. Source: Ancient and
Modern Germantown, Mount Airy and Chestnut Hill, by the Reverend S. F. Hotchkin, 1889:
480.
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Figure 4.24: Exterior view of the home of George C. Blabon in Figure 4.25: Interior view of the home of George C. Blabon in
Merion, Pennsylvania, completed 1905. Source: Architectural Merion, Pennsylvania, completed 1905. Source: Architectural
Record. Record.

Figure 4.26: The five buildings of the former Sheldon Jackson College quadrangle were builtin 1911. This photograph is likely from
shortly after they were completed. Source: National Park Service, Sitka National Historical Park, E. W. Merrill Collection, SITK 26394.
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THE IMPORTANCE OF THE SEE HOUSE

The significance of the See House revolves around its association with Bishop
Rowe. However, it is also an excellent example of the Shingle style and may
have influenced the later Sheldon Jackson College buildings (1909-11) designed
by the New York firm of Ludlow and Peabody, which have intersecting hipped
roofs and are partially shingled (Figure 4.26).

Architectural Historian Alison Hoagland in her Buildings of Alaska opines:

Thehouseisasplendid example of the provincial Shingle style, complementing
the church. Two and half stories in height and irregular in plan, the wood-
shingled building has a variety of projections, bays and oriels.?
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5. Physical Description

SITE

The See House property is located on the north side of Lincoln Street in Sitka,
Alaska overlooking Crescent Bay (Figure 5.1). There are three buildings on the
property, the St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Episcopal Church, the See House (Bishop’s
House, but now referred to as the rectory), and the Archives Building. The See
House and Archives Building are located north and northeast of the church,
respectively. The front (entry) facades of the See House and the church face
south toward Lincoln Street and the bay. The entrance to the Archives Building
faces west. An uncoursed fieldstone wall with a jagged rock cap runs east-west
along the public sidewalk at Lincoln Street separating the church property from
the sidewalk. The fieldstone wall terminates at taller posts of the same material
at the west side at a paved drive and at the east before meeting the second paved
drive. Within the fieldstone wall, there is a wrought iron gate, with decorative

Figure 5.1: Historic view of Sitka's Crescent Bay with St. Peter’s and the See House visible
along the shoreline, likely c. 1908-1915. From Anne Pollnow (RHC09-126.ar.jpg).

fleur-de-lis caps, centered on the front entry of the church (Figure 5.2). The
gate is flanked by fieldstone posts which also have jagged rock caps. There are
two steps at the gate leading to a concrete sidewalk, with low concrete curb
walls on either side that progresses to concrete steps leading up to the church’s
entry Vestibule. The concrete steps are bounded on either side with fieldstone
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Figure 5.2: Wrought iron gate at front entry of church, Figure 5.4: Cutting from the famous Glastonbury Thorn from
accessed from the public sidewalk next to Lincoln Street. England’s Glastonbury Abbey planted in 1999, at northwest
corner of church.

Figure 5.3: Peter Trimble Row and his family's gravestones Figure 5.5: Paved parking to the north of the church, looking
rest on the front lawn of the church. Photo credit: Grant southwest.
Crosby
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kneewalls that match the sidewalk masonry wall. There is also a concrete path
thatleads from the church steps eastward toward the paved drive at the east side
of the property.

The church is surrounded by lawn and a few trees and shrubs. Large shrubs
flank the front entry stairs, but for the most part the lawn continues to the base
of the church; there are no low foundation plantings at the east and west side of
the church. The remains of the first Episcopal Bishop of Alaska, Peter Trimble
Row, and those of his first wife, Dora, and two of their children are buried on
the front lawn and are marked by gravestones (Figure 5.3). There is a stump
of what was a large tree to the east of the Rowe family gravestones. At the east
side of the church there is a stepped, concrete planting bed just at the edge of
the parking area and several concrete parking bumpers at the northeast corner
of the church. Near the northwest corner of the church there is a cutting from
the famous Glastonbury Thorn from England’s Glastonbury Abbey, which
was planted in 1999 (Figure 5.4). A protective metal fence surrounds the thorn
tree. At the rear (or northeast) corner of the church there is a low, boulder
retaining wall separating the church from the paved area behind that allows
for the approximately three-foot difference between the church floor and the
parking lot level. At the northwest corner there is a concrete path and steps
leading from the parking area to the church’s rear door. The rear door leads to
the columbarium room and is one of only two entrances into the church. This
area around the rear door has some low plantings along the edge of the paved
drive and a serpentine-shaped concrete pathway serving as the accessible route
from parking into the church. One-way directional asphalt driveways at the east
and west sides of the church lead to a large, paved parking behind the church to
the south of the See House (Figure 5.5).

Figure 5.6: Paved parking area and drive that separates the church and See House, looking
north.
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Figure 5.7: The See House situated along the west property
line, looking northeast.

Figure 5.8: Pathway between the rear addition of the See
House and the Archives Building, looking west.

Figure 5.9: Church garden at the north end of the parcel
behind the See House, looking north.

To the north of the church is the See House which is
separated from the church by the paved parking area
and drive. The paving terminates in front of the See
House where there are foundation plantings at the
south facade and a set of stairs to the building entry
(Figure 5.6). Along the east side of the See House
the asphalt paving continues up to the building’s
foundation eventually transitioning to lawn at the
northeast corner.

The See House is situated along the west property
line, where a wood fence separates the church
property from the adjacent parcel (Figure 5.7).
There are some low plantings along the east side of
the wood fence and to the west of the See House.
To the east of the See House is the small Archives
Building, which was originally a garage and storage
building. There is an area of lawn and a concrete
pathway between the rear addition of the See
House and the Archives Building (Figure 5.8).
The concrete pathway also leads from the asphalt
parking lot to the porch entry at the rear of the See
House and provides a partially accessible route
from the parking area into the building. At the
north end of the parcel behind the See House, there
is a church garden and several small garden sheds.
A wood fence runs along the far north side of the
property (Figure 5.9).

BUILDING EXTERIOR

The See House is a blend of the Queen Anne and
Shingle architectural styles as evidenced by the
hipped roof with intersecting gables, the shingled
exterior wall surfaces, fieldstone foundation,
chimneys, and front stair knee walls, as well as the
simple wood post porch, and a variety of window
types, some with leaded glass (Figure 5.10).
The building has an irregular-shaped footprint
measuring roughly 47 feet across the south
(primary) facade and 31 feet at the east and west
(side) facades. An addition, built in 1956, extends to
the north and has a rectangular footprint.

The original portion of the house primarily rests
on a concrete foundation with remnants of rubble
masonry infill visible at locations on the north, east,
and south facades. The walls of the wood-frame
structure are clad in painted wood cedar shingles.
At the first floor, every third row of shingles is flared
creating a rusticated look approximating masonry
coursing, whereas at the upper stories the shingles
are installed in regular coursing. (Figure 5.11).
Wood trim divides the walls between the foundation
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Figure 5.10: Overview of See House, looking north.

Figure 5.11: Detail of flared rows of shingles at lower level Figure 5.12: Exterior random laid stone at the stair and
of the See House. continuing to the foundation, which is partially obscured by
landscaping, looking west.
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Figure 5.13: View of the roof forms at the See House with the main hip roof, intersecting front gable, dormers and the flat roof
of the porch, looking northwest.

Figure 5.14: Detail of the typical leaded glass windows with Figure 5.15: Exterior stonework that corresponds with the
heart motifs. interior inglenook.
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and first floor, the first and second floors, and the
second floor and attic at the gable ends. In addition
to some areas on the exterior foundation walls, the
chimneys, porch foundation and knee walls, and
area beneath the interior living room inglenook are
finished with randomly coursed fieldstone (Figure
5.12).

The building has a complicated roof form composed
of hipped sections at the east and west ends, a flat
roof at the center, and lower intersecting gables over
the south, west, and north fagcades (Figure 5.13).
The roofing material has been replaced recently
with thick synthetic (plastic) shakes of a light grey
color. There is copper flashing at roof crickets and
semi-octagonal copper-clad roofs over the first and
second floor bays at the south facade. The eaves of
the hipped and gabled sections are flared.

Thebuildinghasavariety of windowstypesincluding
double-hung, fixed, awning, and casements. All
windows on the original part of the building are
wood construction. Some have wood divided lites,
while others have leaded divided lites. Many of the
leaded glass windows feature a heart motif (Figure
5.14). Many windows are not original either having
been extensively repaired or replaced in kind. The
divided lite leaded glass windows are original, but
the wood frames have been restored.

SOUTH (PRIMARY) FACADE

The south or primary facade is asymmetrical.
At the west end in the Dining Room, there is an
eight-over-one, double-hung, wood window at
the first story and an eighteen-over-one, double-
hung, wood window on the second floor at the
Bishop’s Bedroom. This window has leaded glass
with a typical heart shaped element at the center
of the eighteen lites. To the east, at the first story,
the exterior of the one-story fireplace inglenook is
clad in fieldstone with an angled fieldstone buttress
jutting out to the southwest (Figure 5.15).

At the front facade basement level, there is a set of
stairs leading to a basement entrance covered by
a low-pitched gabled roof supported by exposed
wood posts and beams. This covering is a recent
addition to the building (Figure 5.16). The roofing
material at this feature is the same replacement
synthetic roofing shakes used at the main roof.

At the southwest corner of the Living Room, there
is a three-sided bay with a large, fixed window and
a triple sash, four-lite transom above. On the angled

Figure 5.16: The addition of the fixed awning at the
basement level entry, looking north.

Figure 5.17: Detail of the lower story bay window on the
south facade, looking north.

Figure 5.18: Detail of the typical leaded windows with the
heart motif.
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Figure 5.19: Detail of the second story bay window with
decorative brackets.

Figure 5.20: The front facing gable with the centered small
awning window and decorative sawtooth shingles at the
lower portion of the gable face.

sides of the bay, there are tall rectangular, double-
hung, wood windows with four-lite transoms.
Wood shingles clad the base of the bay (Figure
5.17). To the east, at the first floor, there is a fixed,
large pane window with a tripled, four-lite transom.
On the second floor of the south facade there is a
pair of leaded, eighteen-over-one, double-hung
windows on the west side employing the typical
leaded glass transom with the heart motif (Figure
5.18) and to the east, there is a semi-octagonal oriel
bay supported by wood brackets. On the front face
of the bay, there is a fixed rectangular window with
a segmental arch top sash and correspondingly
shaped leaded twelve-light transom. On the sides of
the bay, there are lower fixed windows with operable
casement style transoms above. (Figure 5.19). At the
attic level, there is a south-facing roof gable with a
two-lite awning-style window. All windows on the
west side of the south facade are center aligned
with the gable ridge. Simple flared bargeboards
and exposed outrigger purlins ornament the gable
end. The wood shingles at the lower portion of the
front facing attic gable are installed in a decorative
sawtooth pattern (Figure 5.20).

At the east end of the fagade, there is a one-story
entrance porch. At each corner, the porch roof
is supported by three simple posts. The lintels
spanning the posts create openings that are semi
octagonal at the south opening and triangular
arches at the east and west openings. The entrance
porch is topped by a second-story deck, which is
surrounded by a turned-wood balustrade and solid
corners clad in shingles (Figure 5.21). The main
entrance door is sheltered by the entrance porch
and trimmed with painted wood configured at the
door head with a segmental arch. The wood paneled
door has leaded glass at the upper portion, original
bronze hardware, decorative metal strapping and
key sculpture, and wood detailing. The door is
flanked by decorative wood-panels with leaded
glass side lites at the upper portion of the panels
(Figures 5.22 and 5.23).

WEST (SIDE) FACADE

At the north end of the west facade’s first floor, there
isamulled set of windows consisting of a fixed center
window with flanking double-hung windows and a
five-sash transom with four-lite windows. Above,
on the second floor, there is a prow window with
a leaded eighteen-over-one, double-hung window
on each of the two faces (Figure 5.24). This window
has the typical heart shaped feature within the
leaded glass. Also, at the west , there is the fieldstone
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Figure 5.21: Detail of the entry porch, looking north. Figure 5.23: Detail of the leaded glass and metal decoration
at the wood front door.

Figure 5.22: Detail of the wood front door, looking north. Figure 5.24: Overview of the west facade, looking northeast.
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Figure 5.25: The small window set into the stone of the
inglenook, looking east.

Figure 5.26: Detail of the south end of the east facade,
showing the relationship of the porch, looking west.

Figure 5.27: The central section of the east facade with the
four-lite stained glass window, dormer and chimney.

fireplace projection which has been capped with a
small, hipped roof covered with synthetic shakes.
Small, single lite fixed wood windows flank an the
fieldstone chimney that previously rose through
the eaves of the hipped roof past the second floor
and main roof eave (Figure 5.25). The portion of
the chimney above the hipped roof was removed
during the 2003 restoration. North of the chimney
at the second floor, there is a single casement wood
window.

EAST (SIDE) FACADE

The east facade continues northwards from the
front porch and the exposed stone portions of the
foundation are most evident along this. At the first
floor at the far southern portion of the facade there
is a narrow, eight-lite, fixed wood window that
serves the entry hall. Above on the second floor,
there is a twelve-lite half-glazed, half-panel wood
door, which leads to the second-story deck above
the entrance porch. (Figure 5.26).

The central portion of the east facade includes a
small leaded divided lite casement window and
a four-lite, half-glazed, half-panel, wood door to
an interior hallway near the kitchen at the lower
story. Interrupting the wood trim course between
the first and second floor is a fixed, four lite, wood
window with stained glass that corresponds to the
interior main stairway. At the second story there
are two nine-lite leaded casement windows. At the
attic level, there is a shed-roof dormer with paired
single-lite fixed wood windows. To the north of the
dormer, a stone veneer chimney projects from the
hipped roof (Figure 5.27).

At the north end of the east facade there is
projecting one-story element with an engaged hip
roof with flared eaves. This projection has a small,
wood, double-hung, one-over-one window and a
semi-circular window with a single lite with lattice
work. There is also a large electrical power panel
enclosure to the south of the small double-hung
window (Figure 5.28).

NORTH (REAR) FACADE

At the north facade of the See House there is a
solid wood door, with an arched opening, which
accesses the eastern, projecting, one-story element.
This doorway is slightly recessed so that there is
a shallow hood at the arch. The door is reached
by several wood steps. On the main block of the
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Figure 5.28: The north end of the east facade with its one-story projection.
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Figure 5.29: The north facade of the See House, including
the one-story projection with the arched doorway.

Figure 5.30: A detail of the intersection of the historic See
House with the 1956 Fellowship Hall addition.

building at the first floor, there are paired, wood,
double-hung, one-over-one windows followed by a
single, wood, double-hung, one-over-one window
at the west side; this fenestration pattern is repeated
at the second floor. Above, in the gable end, there
is a pair of wood, single-lite, casement windows
(Figure 5.29).

FELLOWSHIP HALL (1956 ADDITION)

The Fellowship Hall was added to the north facade
of the See House in 1956. The Fellowship Hall has
a rectangular-shaped footprint measuring 40 feet
by 28 feet with a simple gable roof framed into the
original building’s north . The roof is covered with
the same synthetic shake roofing material as the See
House. There is an awkward intersection where the
addition roof joins the historic See House (Figure
5.30).

The walls of the wood-frame Fellowship Hall are
clad in wood shingles at the first and second floors.
The south (primary) facade is largely obscured by
the See House. However, at the west side of the
addition, the south facade has a molded fiberglass
door that provides entry to the addition’s apartment.
The door is a newer, paneled type door with a small
stained glass lite at the top of the door. Above the
entry door at the second-floor level is a large, single
lite fixed window (Figure 5.31).

At the first floor of the east facade of the Fellowship
Hall, there are two double-hung windows, a single
molded half-lite door sheltered by a shed roofed
porch supported by unpainted four-by-four wood
columns. To the north, there is another single
double-hung window. At the second floor, there is a
pair of double-hung windows, a single double-hung
window, and a two-part sliding window (Figure
5.32).

At the first floor of the west facade, there are a set
of paired double-hung windows followed by two
smaller windows. Above, on the second floor, there
is a large, three-part window consisting of fixed
center section flanked by double-hung windows
then several smaller windows at the north end of
the west facade (Figure 5.33).

At the north facade lower story there is a tripled
window composed of three double-hung windows.
Above on the second floor, there are two pairs of
double-hung windows (Figure 5.34). All windows
on the Fellowship Hall are constructed of vinyl sash
and frame.
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Figure 5.31: South facade of the 1956 Fellowship Hall Figure 5.33: West facade of the 1956 addition, looking
addition, which provides the entry to the apartment, looking northeast.
north.

Figure 5.32: The east facade of the 1956 addition, looking west.
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Drawing by: R. Fehlberg Architects
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Figure 5.34: The north facade of the 1956 addition, looking
southwest. Photo credit: Grant Crosby

Figure 5.35: Original wood wainscotting with picture rail or
plate shelf in the Living Room.

Figure 5.36: Leaded glass window on the entrance door of
the house, looking south towards the church.

Figure 5.37: Vestibule wood batten walls with plaster panels
covered in burlap.
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BUILDING INTERIOR

FIRST FLOOR

The first floor of the See House includes the Entry
Vestibule, Living Room, and Dining Room which
are some of the most significant spaces within the
building. These rooms have plaster walls with the
lower portion having a decorative wainscotting,
consisting of plaster panels covered in painted
burlap and with dark stained wood battens. The
wood wainscotting terminates in a wood shelf often
called either a picture rail or plate shelf (Figure 5.35).
There are wide, wood baseboards at the bottom of
the wainscot. Door and window trim in these spaces
is also the wide, dark stained wood. The flooring in
these spaces was historically wood, but is presently
obscured by wall to wall carpet.

ENTRY VESTIBULE

The Entry Vestibule is a small, rectangular space with
an interior, secondary, paneled wood door leading
to the Living Room and stair hall. The Vestibule is lit
by the leaded glass of the front door and side lites,
that have some pieces of colored glass (Figure 5.36).
Additionally, there are two, fixed windows on the
east and north walls of the Vestibule. The ceiling of
the Vestibule is wood paneled stained to match the
other wood elements in the house. There is single
pendant light fixture in this space. The walls in the
Vestibule are plaster covered with burlap and dark
wood battens, similar to those found at other first
floor interior spaces of the See House (Figure 5.37).

STAIRWAY AND BENCH

Upon entry into the first floor spaces from the Entry
Vestibule there is a stair immediately to the north
ascending to the second floor (Figure 5.38). There
is a built-in, L-shaped, wood bench, stained the
same dark wood as found throughout the house,
at the bottom of the stairway as one enters the
Living Room. The stair is embellished with wood
arched entryways with a keystone motif and simple
slats that separates the stair from the Living Room
(Figure 5.39). This feature is stained the same dark
finish as the other woodwork in the See House. At
the stair landing there is a decorative stained glass
window (Figure 5.40). There is an under the stair
closet accessed from just beyond the bench (Figure
5.41).

Figure 5.38: Stairway to the second floor accessed from the
Entry Vestibule.

Figure 5.39: Wood arched entryway with keystone motif
and simple wood slats.
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Figure 5.40: Decorative stained glass window at stair
landing.

Figure 5.41: Closet with original door, located under the
stairwell.

LIVING ROOM

The Living Room has the typical plaster walls
with the decorative wainscotting capped with the
picture rail. The ceiling in the Living Room is plaster
with wood beams stained the same color as the
wainscotting and other woodwork in the house
(Figure 5.42). The focal point of the Living Room
is a brick fireplace flanked by a wood inglenook
on either side of the fireplace. The inglenook has
L-shaped benches that face the chimney wall. The
plaster and batten wainscotting continues into
the inglenook. (Figure 5.43). There are two wood
posts with decorative brackets on either side of the
fireplace that frame the inglenook. The ends of the
woodinglenook benches and the inglenook brackets
have heart-shaped cut outs emulating the similar
motif found in the leaded glass windows throughout
the house (Figure 5.44). There are small windows on
either side of the chimney that provide daylight to
the inglenook area. The brick used at the chimney
have a glazed face and there is a replacement tile
hearth. There is a simple wood mantle that may also
be a later replacement. The metal and glass fireplace
screen is also a later addition to this feature. The
other primary feature of the Living Room is the
large bay window which overlooks the harbor. The
bay is arched at the top and has a row of four-lite,
transom windows with amber-colored glass. At
the lower portion of the bay the central window is
fixed and the side windows are in a one-over-one,
double-hung configuration (Figure 5.45). There is
another south facing window in the living room just
as you enter from the Vestibule. This is a fixed large
pane at the lower portion with the four-lite, amber-
colored transom windows above (Figure 5.46).

DINING ROOM

The Living Room and Dining Room were originally
separated by a set of wood pocket doors (Figure
5.47). The primary feature of the Dining Room is
a large, wood, built-in cabinet with a cut out to the
Kitchen on the east wall of the Dining Room (Figure
5.48). There is a doorway to the Kitchen to the north
of the built-in. Along the west wall of the Dining
Room there is a large picture window flanked by
two, one-over-one double hung windows. Each
double hung window has one four-lite transom
above and there are three, four lite transoms above
the picture window. These form a continuous row
of amber colored transoms. The south wall of the
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Figure 5.42: Plaster ceilings with dark-stained wood beams Figure 5.45: Central bay window on first floor, looking south
in the Living Room. towards bay.
Figure 5.43: Plaster and wainscotting in the inglenook. Figure 5.46: Fixed window with four-lite amber colored

transoms in Living Room.

Figure 5.44: Inglenook columns with decorative heart- Figure 5.47: Doorway between Living Room and Dining
shaped cut outs. Room where wood pocket doors were originally.
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Figure 5.48: Built-in wood cabinet with cut out located
between Dining Room and Kitchen.

Figure 5.49: Eight-over-one double-hung window on the
south wall of Dining Room.

Figure 5.50: Plaster and wood beam ceilings in the Dining
Room are the same finishes as those found in the Living
Room.

Dining Room has an eight-over-one, double hung
window (Figure 5.49). The north wall of the Dining
Room now connects to the Fellowship Hall, but
this wall would have likely originally had a window
facing the rear yard. The Dining Room has the same
wainscotting and wood ceiling beams that are found
in the Living Room (Figure 5.50).

KITCHEN

The Kitchen has been modified over the years, but
includes a pantry area as well as the main kitchen
space (Figure 5.51). The primary kitchen area has
two ovens, a range top, microwave oven, dishwasher,
and a refrigerator. There are various eras of cabinets
and Kitchen furniture. The flooring in the kitchen
is linoleum. (Figure 5.52). At the south side of the
kitchen is the secondary stair leading to the second
story hallway (Figure 5.53). There is a door leading
to the Basement on the south wall of the kitchen.
There is a hallway leading to the north exit door off
the east end of the Kitchen (Figure 5.54).

SECOND FLOOR

The U-shaped stairway has an intermediate landing
with a decorative stained glass window. The stair
ascends to the second floor and lands at a large
central hall (Figure 5.55). Radiating from the hall
are what were originally three bedrooms and
likely a study, but these rooms are now used for
church offices. One of the bedrooms, located at the
northwest corner of hall is the largest and was the
bishop’s bedroom. There is also a bathroom on this
level. The attic door is located just to the north of
the top of the stair. Beyond the attic door is a small
closet that does not appear to be original (Figure
5.56).

SOUTHEAST BEDROOM (FATHER'S STUDY)

The primary feature of the southeast bedroom
is a large projecting bay window at the center of
the south wall (Figure 5.57). The center window
of the bay is arched. There are transom windows
above the three elements of the bay window. The
bay forms a window seat and the woodwork of the
bay window has the same dark stain as the wood
elements found on the first floor. The walls are
plaster with a picture rail and coved ceiling. The
original wood floors have been covered over with
linoleum tiles emulating wood parquet flooring.
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Figure 5.51: Main Kitchen and pantry area. Figure 5.54: Hallway from Kitchen that leads to the north
exit.

Figure 5.52: Linoleum flooring in Kitchen. Figure 5.55: The second floor hallway, looking west.

Figure 5.53: Secondary stair to second story hallway, Figure 5.56: The Attic, closet and northeast corner bedroom

accessed from the Kitchen. doorways off the hallway.

53



See House Historic Structure Report

Figure 5.57: Bay window in the southeast bedroom of
second floor.

Figure 5.58: The entrance door to the second story balcony
located in the southeast bedroom (Father's Study).

There is original wood baseboard in this room, but
it has been painted white. There is a small leaded
glass casement window at the north end of the east
wall. The room has a door at the south end of east
wall leading to a small balcony above the covered
entry porch below (Figure 5.58). The location of
this door is likely original to the room, but the door
itself is arecent replacement with panels at the lower
portion and glazed above. The door to the hallway
is partially glazed with a top lite and alternating
vertical wood panels and glass below (Figure 5.59).

SOUTHWEST BEDROOM (OFFICE)

The bedroom (Office) at the southwest corner of
the second floor has a pair of eighteen-over-one,
double-hung windows with the upper sash having
leaded glass with the typical, centered heart shaped
motif (Figure 5.60). The wood trim around the
window has been painted. This room retains its
original wood flooring. The walls are plaster with
a picture rail and coved ceiling (Figure 5.61). This
room also retains its original wood baseboard, but it
hasbeen painted. The door to the hallway is partially
glazed with a top lite and alternating vertical wood
panels and glass below. There is a closet at the
northwest corner of the room.

NORTHWEST BEDROOM (BISHOP'S BEDROOM)

The bedroom at the northwest corner of the
second floor was historically the Bishop’s Bedroom.
This room has an angled prow window with two,
eighteen-over-one, double-hung windows with
the upper sash having leaded glass with the typical,
centered heart shaped motif. The window forms a
triangular window seat or shelf. The prow window
is centered along the west wall of the room (Figure
5.62). At the southwest corner of this room there is a
single, eighteen-over-one, double-hung window. All
of the wood trim in this room has been painted. The
walls are plaster with a picture rail and coved ceiling.
This room retains its original wood baseboard, but
it has been painted. This room is carpeted, but
the original wood flooring may be present under
the carpet (Figure 5.63). The door to the hallway
is partially glazed with a top lite and alternating
vertical wood panels and glass below. The room has
a closet (Work Room 207) at the south wall that sits
above the inglenook below (Figure 5.64). There is a
second closet (Bishop's Closet 205) at the northeast
corner of the room (Figure 5.65).
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Figure 5.59: The door, cove ceiling and chair rail in the Figure 5.62: The prow window in the northwest bedroom
southeast bedroom (Father's Study). (Bishop's Bedroom).

Figure 5.60: The windows in the southwest bedroom Figure 5.63: The door and carpet in the northwest bedroom
(Office). (Bishop's Bedroom).

Figure 5.61: The door, cove ceiling and chair rail in the Figure 5.64: The entry to the closet (Bishop's Closet 205)
southwest bedroom (Office). above the inglenook in the northwest bedroom.
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Figure 5.65: The entry to the closet between the Bathroom Figure 5.68: The coved ceiling and window in the Bathroom.
and the northwest bedroom.

Figure 5.66: The northeast bedroom (Meeting Room) Figure 5.69: The door to the closet between the northwest
windows. bedroom and the Bathroom.
Figure 5.67: The closet and window in the northeast Figure 5.70: The door and stair to the Attic.

bedroom (Meeting Room).
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NORTHEAST BEDROOM (MEETING ROOM)

This is the smallest room on the second floor. There
are two, one-over-one, double-hung windows
centered on the north wall of this room (Figure
5.66). The walls are plaster with a picture rail and
coved ceiling. The door to the hallway is partially
glazed with a top lite and alternating vertical wood
panels and glass below. This room is carpeted, but
the original wood flooring may be present under
the carpet. This room retains its original wood
baseboard, but it has been painted. There is a closet
at the southeast corner of the room that has a nine
lite leaded glass casement window (Figure 5.67).

BATHROOM

The one Bathroom on the second floor has a coved
ceiling and single window on the north wall (Figure
5.68). The room has linoleum tile and the fixtures
in the room are not original. There is a door on the
west wall that leads to the closet/storage room off
the southwest bedroom (Figure 5.69).

ATTIC

The Attic stairway is accessed through a wood door
off the second floor hall. Similar to the stairs from the
first to the second floor, the stairs to the attic wrap
in a U-shape (Figure 5.70). At the landing there are
two, leaded glass, casement windows (Figure 5.71).
The Attic is a mostly unfinished, storage space with
wide wood boards for flooring and at the walls and
ceiling. There is a small built out room at the top of
the stairs at the southwest corner of the attic. This
space is used for storage and was previously used to
house the archives (Figure 5.72).

FELLOWSHIP HALL ADDITION

The first floor of the Fellowship Hall includes a
large meeting room that is accessed from the Dining
Room of the See House (Figure 5.73). This space also
includes a men’s and women’s restrooms as well as
small storage rooms. There is an entry to the upstairs
apartment at the west facing south toward Crescent
Bay. The apartment includes a dining room, kitchen,
living room, bathroom, and two bedrooms.

Figure 5.71: The windows at the Attic stair landing.

Figure 5.72: The built out attic room used for storage.

Figure 5.73: The Dining Room of the See House looking into
the Fellowship Hall addition.
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BASEMENT

The Basement is accessed via a stairway from the
kitchen (Figure 5.74). The Basement includes a
simple open space that is used for meetings (Figure
5.75). There is a painted stone wall at the west wall
corresponding to the fireplace and inglenook above.
There are several storage spaces and a boiler room at
the Basement level as well (Figure 5.76). There is an
unfinished crawl space under the Fellowship Hall.

Figure 5.74: The stairs from the Kitchen to the Basement.

Figure 5.75: The Basement meeting room.

Figure 5.76: The painted stone wall at the Basement.
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6. Chronology of
Development and Use

1867

1882

1894

1895

1896

United States purchases Alaska from Russia.

Bishop Rowe assigned to Sault St. Marie Michigan.

Bishop Rowe becomes a United State citizen.

Peter Trimble Rowe elected Bishop of Alaska at Episcopal
General Convention in Minneapolis.

November 30: Consecration of Bishop Rowe in St. George’s
Church, New York City:

‘Believe me,’ said Bishop Rowe, ‘as [ walked up that aisle to
the altar, I felt like a lamb going to the slaughter. Everyone
believed it to be an impossible job and that it would be
bitter for whoever accepted it.”!

April: Rowe arrives in Sitka, Alaska.
April-October: Rowe makes first trip north through Alaska.
July: Jenkins recounts that Bishop Rowe reported:

On April 22nd,I left Juneau by the overland route for the
Yukon River. Upwards of six or seven hundred men had
already started by the same route for the mines at Forty
Mile and Circle City. . . After crossing the Summit, Chikoot
Pass, I hauled my own sled with a load of 450 pounds over
Crater, Long, Lindeman, Bennett, and Horse Lakes, and
their connection of Canyon and River. ?

August: Gold is discovered near the Klondike River in
Canada’s Yukon Territory.

November 26: First Episcopal Service in Sitka, conducted by
Rowe at the Presbyterian Church.
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1897

1898

1899

1900

1902

1903

1904

1905

May 30: First confirmation in Sitka, conducted by Rowe.
Summer — Rowe family living in Sitka in rental house.

June — October: Rowe makes second trip north through Alaska
and finds a much more crowded Yukon Territory filled with
gold seeking miners.

Exact date unknown: Proctor family of Utica, New York
donate $2,000.00 toward “church home”.

Building lot chosen for church.

Plans for church and possibly the See House drawn by
Duhring in Philadelphia; unclear if Bishop Rowe ever met
Duhring to discuss the project.

March - October: Rowe makes third trip north through
Alaska.

July - The Rev. Wallis M. Partridge becomes Vicar.

April 7: Bishop Rowe writes to Dora regarding the avalanche
at the Chilkoot Pass.

June 29: Ground breaking and placing of cornerstone of
church.

September - The Rev. Wallis M. Partridge leaves.

November 26 — Opening service in St. Peter’s by-the-Sea.

Pro Cathedral formed, name St. Peter’s-by-the-Sea selected.
April 15: Consecration of the church.

August 5: St. Peter’s pictured in Philadelphia Enquirer article.

May - July: Rev C. F. Taylor has short service as Vicar.

May: Bishop Rowe finishes the stone wall along Lincoln
Street.

Rev Clarence S. Milliken becomes Vicar.

See House constructed.
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1908

1912

1914

1915

1921

1924

1925

1942

1943

1956

June 6: Bishop Rowe attends the Lambeth Conference sailing
from New York; Leo Rowe travels with the bishop. Rowe visits
Paris after the Conference; Leo travels to Scotland.

Bishop Rowe and family move to Seattle.

May 22: Dora Rowe, Bishop Rowe’s first wife, dies; interred
in St. Peter’s churchyard.

Rowe corresponded after her death: “I am not able to write
—I’'m dumb with the loss of my dear wife. I have just laid
her precious body in Sitka, as she wished.”

April 11: Cyril Rowe, Bishop Rowe’s son, dies; interred in St.
Peter’s churchyard.

October: Bishop Rowe marries Rose Fullerton, the niece
of the Bishop of Calgary, Pinkham in St. Mark’s Church in
Seattle. She brings him three more sons.

Electric lighting installed in St. Peter’s church.

Mrs. J. H. (Elizabeth) Molineux arrives in Sitka as Missionary-
in-charge.

Bishop, Mrs. Rowe and sons move to Victoria, Canada; he
maintains an office in Seattle.

June 1: Bishop Rowe dies.

June 12: Bishop Rowe’s ashes interred in St. Peter’s
churchyard.

Fall: Mrs. Molineux retires.

Publication of The Man of Alaska: Peter Trimble Rowe by
Thomas Jenkins.

No exact date; circa 1956 St Peters Sanctuary Renovation and
Repair including diagonal bracing, Foss, Olsen & Sands, AIA,
Juneau, AK, 1 sheet (Foss, Olsen & Sands only operated
between 1956-1958)

February 7: Drawing set (8 sheets) by carpenter George
Nelson for a two-story, rear addition to the See House
including the parish hall downstairs and upstairs apartment.

63



See House Historic Structure Report

1956 -1958

1963

1968

1971

1978

1979 - 1980

1982

1983

1993

1995

1997

1998

Undated drawings: St Peters Sanctuary Renovation and
Repair including diagonal bracing, by architectural firm Foss,
Olsen & Sands, AIA, Juneau, AK, 1 sheet (Foss, Olsen & Sands
only operated between 1956-1958).

Leo Rowe, Bishop Rowe’s son, gifts Bishop Rowe’s papers to
the Episcopal Church Archives in Austin, Texas.

Leo Rowe dies; interred in St. Peter’s churchyard.

1969 or 1979 (two dates listed in various sources).
Pipe organ ordered, built, and installed in St. Peter’s.
Installed by Dr. R. Byard Fritts of Tacoma, Washington.

This likely resulted in the raised floor in front of the altar and
the changes to the west wall of the east transept.

Alaska becomes a Diocese of the Episcopal Church, rather
than a Missionary District.

St. Peter’s by-the-See and See House listed on the National
Register of Historic Places.

August 1979 and April 1980, drawing set for the See House
Renovations, Ackley Jensen Architects Juneau, AK.

Stations of the Cross, carved soapstone, created and installed
by Alaska artist Donna Standerwick.

St. Peter’s archives established.

December 25: Fire in church.

100th Anniversary of the Episcopal Church in Alaska.

Church roof and side walls are re-shingled to match the
original.

January 4: See House, As-Built Drawings, 4 sheets (these pre-
date the work done in 1999)
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December 21: See House, Robert Fehlberg Architect, draft
project drawings, 15 sheets.

Glastonbury Thorn arrives.

1999 May 1999: See House, Robert Fehlberg Architect

project drawings, 22 sheets.

Glastonbury Thorn dedicated.

2003 November 17: See House, Robert Fehlberg Architect, project

drawings 23 sheets.

c.2010 Columbarium established in the west transept.

2015-2016 Stained glass repairs; including moving a lower window from

the east to the west transept.

c.2019 - 2020 See House re-roofing campaign

Undated Church chimney removed

Church belfry rebuilt / redesigned

Church front stairs and entry door changed

CHAPTER 6 ENDNOTES

1
2.
3.
4

Thomas Jenkins, The Man of Alaska, 54.
Thomas Jenkins, The Man of Alaska, 60-61.
Thomas Jenkins, The Man of Alaska, 251-2.
Thomas Jenkins, The Man of Alaska, 262.
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7. Character-Defining
Features

Character-defining features are the visual aspects and physical features that
comprise the appearance of a historic building. Character-defining features
include the overall shape of the building, its materials, craftsmanship, stylistic
elements, decorative details, interior spaces and features, as well as the various
aspects of its site and environment. The purpose of identifying character-
defining features is to understand the individual character of buildings, and
to provide a framework of what aspects of the building should be considered
when undergoing any repairs or treatment.

SITE

Location relationship of the See House to St. Peter’s church

Siting of the church and See House on the lot so that both face Crescent Bay
Bishop Rowe and family gravestones

Fieldstone churchyard wall and end posts with jagged rock cap

Wrought iron gate with decorative fleur-de-lis caps within fieldstone wall

Archives Building (originally an auto garage) located on the paved drive,
southeast of the See House

BUILDING EXTERIOR

Irregular plan

Randomly laid fieldstone at foundation, chimneys, inglenook and porch
base

Square wood shingles flared at every third course at lower story and single
course at upper story

Wood trim separating the foundation and first floor, the first and second
floors, and the second floor and attic

Intersecting gable and tall hipped roofs with flared ends (roofing material
not original)

Sawtooth shingles at the lower portion of the front (south facing) gable
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Projecting gables with wood brackets and wood soffit

Various bay, and oriel windows

Copper roofs over the projecting bay windows

Front porch with simple posts and flat roof

Paneled wood front door with upper leaded glass

Leaded glass side lights and panels on either side of the front door
Leaded glass windows throughout

Stained glass window lighting interior stairway

Window locations and configurations (actual windows replaced in kind)

The 1956 Fellowship Hall addition is non-contributing and does not have any
exterior character-defining features.

BUILDING INTERIOR

Irregular plan

Vertical oak wood battens, 2 5/8" wide with angled ogee trim over burlap-
covered plaster, capped by an oak wood picture rail with decorative corbels

Plaster walls and ceilings; coved ceiling at second floor
3/4" by 3 1/4" Douglas fir wood flooring
Inglenook at fireplace with window seats

Glazed brick fireplace with a wood mantel supported by brick corbelling;
brick segmental arch at fireplace opening

Bay window with view towards Crescent Bay

Interior wood stile-and-rail doors with upper and lower wood panels, or
glazing lites

Wood arched entryway with keystone motif and decorative wood slats infill
at stairway

Stained glass window at stair landing

Leaded glass windows
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+  Amber colored glass windows
+  Wood baseboard, measuring 9 inches in height
+  Builtin service counter at Dining Room

+ L-shaped built in wood bench seating at base of stair

The 1956 Fellowship Hall addition is non-contributing and does not have any
interior character-defining features.
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8. Condition Assessment

INTRODUCTION AND METHODOLOGY

SURVEY METHODOLOGY

The See House was visually surveyed during a site visit conducted on October
5th-7th, 2020 by FFA Architecture and Interiors staff in conjunction with
architecture + history, llc. The survey methodology for the See House involved
visual observations conducted at the ground level of building exteriors. Interior
spaces of the See House were also inspected during the October 2020 site visit.
Investigative techniques were conducted using non-destructive methods and
tools. Historic research and resource inspections informed the descriptions
and conditions assessments presented below.

Visual assessment of the 1956 Fellowship Hall was limited to the exterior and
the first floor interior. The second floor private apartment was not within the
project scope and was not assessed at the time of survey. As stated previously
in the HSR, the Fellowship Hall addition is non-contributing and does not
possess any exterior or interior character-defining features.

CONDITION DEFINITIONS

The condition of the building elements that were evaluated are categorized in a
good, fair, poor rating systems, defined as:

Good - The building or structure element or feature appears to be functionally
and structurally sound and exhibits only minor wear and tear or minor
deterioration of surfaces. Repair or rehabilitation is not required; however,
routine maintenance will ensure continued good condition.

Fair — The building or structure element, feature or components of the feature
show signs of aging, deterioration and possible future failure. While the element
or feature is still structurally adequate, corrective maintenance and repair is
required within a moderate period of time (approximately 3-5 years).

Poor — The building or structure element shows extensive deterioration, is
missing, or shows signs of imminent failure if corrective actionis notimmediately
taken. Major corrective repair or replacement is required. Applicable laws,
codes, regulations and other requirements must be considered before any
rehabilitation work can begin.
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GENERAL BUILDING LAYOUT

The See House is a two-story wood-framed building with a finished basement
and an unfinished attic. The first floor consists of the original 1905 rooms,
including the entrance Vestibule, stair hall, Living Room, Dining Room,
fireplace nook, and Kitchen, and a 1956 addition attached to the north facade
of the original building containing the Fellowship Hall (rectory), single
user restrooms, storage closet, and a separate entrance to the second floor
apartment. A large interior opening provides circulation between the original
Dining Room and the Fellowship Hall and an exterior door on the addition’s
east facade leads to a small porch and exterior pathway to parking. The original
plan at the second floor includes the Father’s Study, Bishop’s Bedroom, Office
(former bedroom), Meeting Room (former bedroom), closets, and a bathroom.
Above the Fellowship Hall at the second floor is the private apartment accessed
from the first floor entry on the west facade containing a living room, kitchen,
bathroom, and two bedrooms. The occupiable rooms of the Basement are
all contained within the footprint of the original building’s construction and
include a large meeting room, restroom, mechanical/electrical equipment room,
and closets. The Basement area under the addition is unexcavated crawlspace.

EXTERIOR CONDITIONS

SITE AND EXTERIOR FEATURES (EXTERIOR STAIRS, RAMPS,
WALKWAYS)

The See House is located on the northside of the property behind the St. Peter’s
By-the-Sea Episcopal Church and is accessed from the asphalt paved driveway
connecting the property entry at Lincoln Street and the parking area between
the house and the church (Figure 8.1). Due to the sloping nature of the site
from north to south, the first floor of the See House resides approximately 10
feet higher than the floor of the church. The driveway loop connects the See
House with parking to the southeast and southwest of the building and provides
pedestrian access between the house and church. The Archives Building is
located directly east of the See House across a small grass lawn area containing
a winding concrete pathway connecting the driveway parking, the Archives
Building entry, and the rear entrance to the See House (Figure 8.2). Mosaic
stones placed in the lawn near the rear entrance lead to the church garden
which has several small shed structures and is surrounded by an unpainted
perimeter wood fence. At the south and east of the building surrounding the
Living Room window and fireplace masonry is a small garden containing low
shrubs, flowering plants, and a small deciduous tree.

The primary (front) entrance to the See House is located on the south facade
and is accessed from a covered entry porch. The entry porch has concrete stairs
with round, aluminum pipe handrails on either side, a concrete landing, and
is bounded by stone veneer on concrete guardrail walls. The Basement is also
accessed from the front facade by way of a set of concrete stairs with a covered
roof leading to the Basement door. A drainage grate is placed at the base of
the stairs providing an entry landing and, presumably, a means to manage
stormwater drainage. The apartment entrance located on the west facade has
a flat roof covered porch with concrete stairs and landing. There is no handrail
on these stairs. A secondary (rear) entrance on the addition provides access
to the Fellowship Hall and is also provided with a covered porch and exterior
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Figure 8.1: The See House is accessed from the asphalt paved driveway with parking that connects to the property entry at Lincoln
Street.

Figure 8.2: Archives Building located east of the See House and adjacent winding concrete path that connects the driveway
parking to rear entrances.
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Figure 8.3: The landing outside of the Fellowship Hall
entrance does not have a code-compliant clear floor area.

Figure 8.4: All entrances (with the exception of the main
entry) are not code compliant due to the absence of
handrails and/or handrails on both sides of stairs.

Figure 8.5: The north Kitchen entrance stairs are slippery
when wet and pose a safety hazard.

concrete landing. The rear entrance is utilized as the
accessible entry to the See House and is connected
to the parking area with a concrete ramp set flush
with the surrounding grass lawn.

The Basement entrance on the east facade is
accessed directly from the parking area adjacent to
the Archives Building. The door opens inward to a
landing with stairs that provide access down to the
Basement level or up to the Kitchen on the main
floor. A second entrance to the Kitchen through the
enclosed back porch is located on the north facade.
The entrance is accessed from the parking lot by
way of the designated accessible concrete sidewalk,
which then spurs off the main sidewalk and leads
to the north door. The entry has wooden steps
constructed on a concrete pad, without handrails.

Condition

The building lacks a code-compliant accessible
route from designated accessible parking to
accessible building entry. The current designated
accessible parking space and route to the concrete
walkway and entry at the east facade of Fellowship
Hall does not meet requirements for parking access
aisle, slope or clear floor area at doors and the
landing outside the east entry door does not provide
code-compliant clear floor area for users operating
the door (Figure 8.3).

At all locations other than the main entry stairs,
stairs are not code compliant due to handrails not
being provided at both sides of the stair or handrails
missing altogether (Figure 8.4). The wood surfaces
at the small set of stairs and landing serving the
north entrance to the Kitchen are slippery during
periods of rain and present a safety hazard for users
(Figure 8.5).

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS

The building has a concrete stem wall foundation,
which is exposed above exterior grade in some
locations, that is topped with 1 to 3 feet of rubble
masonry where the foundation wall extends
significantly above grade, particularly at the south
and east facades (Figure 8.6). The Basement was
significantly renovated during the 2003 restoration
including removal of partition walls, installation
of a new 4” concrete slab and footings, and new
steel structural beam and column framing added
to support the main building stair and first floor
joists. A steel channel was installed under the
first floor joists in the Boiler Room for additional
support at the stair opening. The floor structure of
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the first floor consists of rough sawn wood 2 by 10
joists spaced at 16” on center with cross-bridging
and diagonal sheathing. The floor structure of
the addition is supported with wood beams at
intermediate concrete foundation piers. Exterior
walls are wood studs 2 by 4 constructed with
platform framing and headers at windows and doors
are solid-sawn lumber. Roof framing is comprised
of wood solid-sawn rafters that rest on top plates
with hip and valley rafters at intersecting roof forms.
Skip sheathing has been covered with plywood and
the original cedar shingle roof covering has been
replaced with plastic synthetic shakes.

Condition

The hybrid foundation walls at the Basement,
where rubble masonry is placed on top of concrete
foundation walls, was not assessed and the structural
integrity is unknown.

Water stains indicate past moisture infiltration at
the Attic level, particularly around the Boiler Room
chimney. There is damage to select walls on the
first and second floors where plaster finishes are
deteriorated, which may indicate structural roof
components and wall framing were subjected to
high levels of moisture at some point (Figure 8.7).

The Dining Room window on the west facade
appears to be sagging at the window head suggesting
the header framing above the window may not be
sufficient to carry the upper floor loads (Figure 8.8).
No evidence of cracked glass was observed but the
deformation is apparent in the casing at the head of
the window.

ROOF AND GUTTERS

The roof is covered in synthetic (plastic) shakes
of a light grey color which were recently installed,
replacing the original cedar shingles (Figure 8.9).
The complex and irregular roof form has hipped
sections at the east and west ends, a flat portion
at the center, and lower intersecting gables over
the south, west, and north facades. A single shed
dormer is located on the east facade of the hipped
roof section, near the chimney (Figure 8.10).
Overhanging eaves have a slight flare at the hipped
and gabled sections. Eaves on the south facing gable
are slightly flared with a small Greek return near
the second level bay window and have decorative
lookouts on the rake eaves. Rafters are exposed at
the eaves of the apartment addition roof. A majority
of the original 3/4” x 3 1/2” tongue-and-groove
beadboard paneling at eaves and soffits has been

Figure 8.6: The concrete stem wall foundation topped with 1
to 3 feet of rubble masonry.

Figure 8.7: Moisture infiltration at the attic level around the
Boiler Room chimney.

Figure 8.8: Slight sagging of window head on the exterior
of the Dining Room window on the west .
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Figure 8.9: Synthetic (plastic) shakes have replaced the original cedar shingle roof.

Figure 8.10: Unpainted wood trim at roof dormer on the Figure 8.11: A majority of the original tongue-and-groove
east facade near the chimney. beadboard paneling on the eaves and soffits has been
replaced with plywood.
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removed and replaced with plywood (Figure 8.11).
However, some tongue-and-groove soffits have
been retained in areas on the east, west, and south,
facades.

Both copper and painted sheet metal are used at the
variety of flashing conditions found on the building
with copper being used predominantly at bay
window roofs, in standing seam roof coverings, and
around the entry porch roof while painted sheet
metal is used at all locations where the synthetic
roof shakes are installed. Painted sheet metal
flashing is installed at the roof interface with the
Boiler Room chimney and appears to be installed
flush with the chimney’s masonry veneer directly
onto the brick structure. Drainage on the building
consists of painted aluminum k-style gutters and
rectangular downspouts located at eave edges of all
synthetic shake roofs. All wood gutters have been
replaced with aluminum gutters. A copper leader
and round copper downspout is used on the east
facade for the entry porch balcony drainage (Figure
8.12) and another round copper downspout is
used at the porch covering for the apartment.
Gutters and downspouts are placed inconsistently
and infrequently on the building without concern
for overall building character but do appear to
effectively convey water into the underground
stormwater piping system.

Condition

The new synthetic shake roof is functioning
well with no observed evidence of current leaks,
however, materials were not replaced in kind
according to the Secretary of Interior’s Standards.
Water stains visible on the ceiling and walls of
the Attic, the second floor Bishop’s Room Closet
(205), the Meeting Room Closet (210), and the
Vestibule indicate significant water intrusion and
compromised integrity of interior finishes. Water
intrusion in the Bishop’s Closet (205) is related to
the inconvenient placement and likely overflow
of the gutter above the window serving the closet
(Figure 8.13). Roof runoff has caused window
wood damage as well as plaster spalling beneath
the window sill. Past moisture damage in the Attic
has damaged wallpaper and wood interiors. Wall
finishes in the Attic, including wood and wallpaper
are deteriorated from exposure to elevated humidity
and moisture levels (Figure 8.14). The flashing cap
on the standing seam roof above the south bay
window may not be sealed properly. Moisture is
infiltrating the south wall of the Living Room, likely
from snow and wind-driven rain accumulating at
the roof and window joints.

Figure 8.12: Copper leader and round downspout on the
east of the entry porch balcony.

Figure 8.13: Inconvenient placement of the gutter above the
window located on the west facade at the Bishop’s Closet.

Figure 8.14: Peeling wallpaper in Attic due to elevated levels
of humidity and moisture on wood substrate.
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Figure 8.15: Chimney on the west facade above the lower
roof was removed.

Figure 8.16: Stone masonry buttress is in poor condition and
efflorescence and moss growth are visible on masonry.

Mildew and peeling paint was detected on the
bargeboards on the north facade of the addition,
due to moisture exposure. The dormer bargeboard
and fascia on the east facade are not painted, leaving
the wood exposed and unprotected.

Several downspouts attached to exterior walls
discharge roof runoff onto adjacent soil located
within proximity to building walls. Saturated soils
near foundation walls increases the risk of moisture
intrusion from hydrostatic pressure into interior
spaces. The roof at the apartment addition has
only two downspouts located at the north side of
the addition which may be inadequate during large
storm events. The copper downspout serving the
leader at the entry porch is cracked and not secured
to the wall.

EXTERIOR MASONRY

Rubble stone masonry is used on the building
at exposed portions of the foundation, at the
kneewalls of the south entry stair and porch, and
at the chimney on the west facade. Originally, the
chimney was full height built above the building’s
main roof but the upper portion above the lower
roof at the Living Room was removed during the
2003 restoration leaving just the section associated
with the back of the fireplace (Figure 8.15).

Condition

Stone masonry is in overall good condition at most
locations suffering only from minor eflorescence
and moss growth at grout joints in select locations.
However, the stone masonry at the chimney and
adjacent buttress requires repair and repointing
of mortar joints, as well as complete cleaning to
remove efflorescence and moss growth (Figure
8.16). There is a vertical crack through mortar
joints at the masonry below the north window
of the fireplace inglenook and the stones at the
buttress have recessed/missing mortar at joints.
Nails imbedded into masonry were detected on the
west chimney wall. Nails in contact with masonry
have the potential to lead to corrosion and mortar
deterioration.

EXTERIOR WALLS

Exterior walls are wood frame construction with
3/4" straight board sheathing, building paper, and
clad in cedar shingles. Shingle coursing is typically
5-1/4” exposure and has a molding spacer placed

78



CONDITION ASSESSMENT

beneath the shingle at every third course at the first-
floor level creating a flared profile that emphasizes
the shadow line of the molding. The first course
installed over the molding is a double course and
the base of the shingle siding is terminated with a
built-up trim profile consisting of a water table trim,
ogee profile molding, and a 1 x 6 redwood flat trim
(Figure 8.17). The second-floor walls, above the
floor line, and Attic are clad with shingles that are
installed with typical 5-1/4” exposure courses. The
first course of the Attic shingles at the south have
sawtooth detailing on the bottom edge and the
shingles around the main entry door are installed in
adecorative voussoir pattern (Figure 8.18). The floor
lines of the building are designated with horizontal
bands of white-painted trim which track around
the building. In 2004, shingle siding was replaced in
kind with smooth-sawn Western red cedar shingles.
Shingles on the building addition are laid with a
7” exposure and not provided with the horizontal
trim or water table molding found on the original
structure. All shingles are painted red, matching the
color of the church shingles. A corner section of the
southwest exterior wall is constructed of randomly
coursed fieldstone masonry with a buttressed wall.
The wall and supporting buttress mimic the church
construction and design. Other exterior materials
and finishes, including the shingle cladding and
randomly coursed masonry, are consistent with and
complimentary of the church.

Condition

The See House exterior envelope is in fair to good
condition with localized areas of moisture damage
to paint at shingles and window/door trim due
to inadequate control of rainwater and/or lack of
regular maintenance activities such as cleaning,
painting, and repair of missing trim elements.

There is evidence of weathered shingles on all
building facades, but surface deterioration of paint
is most evident on the south and west facades, and
include the east side of the Entry Vestibule (Figure
8.19).

The water table on the east facade, outside Storage
108 does not cover the foundation wall, exposing
insulation and allowing for an ingress path for
rodents and pests (Figure 8.20). The walls of the
apartment addition lack a water table at the base
of the shingle siding and vegetation around the
addition at the base of the walls is in contact with
shingles which may lead to accelerated decay (Figure
8.21). Mildew growth and environmental soiling
has accumulated on shingles across the building

Figure 8.17: Shingle coursing is flared at each third course
with the addition of molding trim beneath the shingles.

Figure 8.18: Shingles around main entry door in a decorative
voussoir pattern.

Figure 8.19: Weathered shingles on south (front) facade .
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Figure 8.20: Water table on the east facade does not cover
the foundation wall, exposing insulation and allowing an
ingress path for rodents and pests.

Figure 8.21: Exterior of addition lacks a water table at the
base of the shingle siding.

Figure 8.22: Mildew/soiling has accumulated on shingles,
with highest concentrations on flared shingle course.

with the highest levels of mildew/soiling occurring
consistently on the flared courses of shingles (Figure
8.22). It appears that the non-vertical surfaces of
flared shingles do not shed water effectively enough
to fully wash waterborne/airborne debris off the
surfaces, leading to soil accumulation and mildew.

Dryer vent hoods on the north facade below
the Kitchen windows are rusted and the vent on
the east facade of the apartment addition near
the intersection with the original building needs
cleaning.

EXTERIOR DOORS

The See House has a total of four entrances into the
original building and two into the 1956 Fellowship
Hall addition. Additionally, there is an exterior door
at the upper balcony above the south entry porch
which is accessed from the Father’s Study on the
second floor. Exterior door types and construction
include wood stile-and-rail and molded fiberglass
replacements with a variety of glazing inserts.
Door frames and casing vary slightly and are all
painted white with exception of the main entrance
door, which is stained red to match the shingle
color. Most of the original exterior doors and
frames were replaced during the 2003 restoration
project, including doors at the east Fellowship Hall
entrance, the south Basement entrance, the east
Kitchen entrance (door only), and at the second
level Father’s Study balcony. The remaining original
doors include the main entrance and the arched
head door at Porch 107.

Main Entry Door (South )

The primary entrance on the front facade is
accessed through a covered entrance porch with
concrete stairs and landing. The entrance door
appears original and is set below a wood arched
architrave and flanked by wood-paneled half side
lites (Figure 8.23). The door is a solid white oak,
stile-and-rail door with three narrow flat panels
measuring 5” wide by 2°-9 1/2” high and an upper
rail shaped into a segmental arch. The door has
an upper leaded glass lite with a decorative shelf
consisting of a pediment with dentils. The wood
surface is stained red and has decorative L-shaped
hand forged hardware, likely original, attached
with rivets to upper and lower wood joinery. The
decorative cross with keys metal sculpture at the
center of the door is a later addition. Hinge cutouts
in the door frame trim indicate the entrance once
had a storm door or screen.
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Basement Door (South )

The Basement entrance on the south (front) was a
later addition to the house. The Basement entrance is
cut into the concrete foundation walls and accessed
from a set of concrete stairs protected by a wood
framed roof (Figure 8.24). The door frame and door
were replaced in 2003 with a 28” wide by 68 high
molded fiberglass door with four panels and two
upper lites. The door and exterior trim are painted
white with hardware consisting of brass hinges and a
key-in-knob door lockset. The door swings outward
over a metal drainage grate that is located at the stair
landing and extends to the door threshold.

Apartment Door (South )

The door entrance is located at the southwest corner
of apartment addition and provides the only access
to the second-floor apartment unit. The original
door has been replaced with a fiberglass door with
three elongated panels and an upper, rectangular
decorative stained glass lite. Hardware consists of a
brass cylinder deadbolt lock and knob.

Fellowship Hall Door (East at Addition)

The secondary (rear) entrance to the See House,
located on the addition’s east facade, provides
access directly into Fellowship Hall and serves as
the accessible entrance to the building. The entrance
has a covered porch with a flat roof and an exterior
concrete landing added in 2003 restoration. The
door frame, door, and sill were also replaced during
the 2003 restoration. The door is a 30” wide by 68”
high molded fiberglass door with two lower panels
and a large upper lite. Hardware consists of a full
mortise lock with a rim cylinder at the exterior and
a panic bar and closer on the interior. The door is
painted white, while the exterior frame and trim is
painted red.

Basement/Kitchen Door (East )

The first-floor east entrance provides access to the
Kitchen and Basement stairs (Figure 8.25). Door
construction consists of solid wood stile-and-rail
with two lower panels and twelve divided upper
lites (3/3/3/3) that together measure 3 feet by 4 feet.
Hardware consists of brass deadbolt and mortise
lockset with a wood threshold. Hinge cutouts from
a former storm/screen door are evident on the door
frame.

Figure 8.23: Primary entrance and entrance door accessed
through covered porch and concrete stairs.

Figure 8.24: Basement entrance (a later addition) cut into
concrete foundation walls, accessed from concrete stairs.

Figure 8.25: East entrance provides access to Kitchen and
Basement stairs.
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Figure 8.26: The Porch 107 door is one of the few original
doors and is constructed of tongue-and-groove wood
boards.

Figure 8.27: Deteriorated lead came at solder joints on the
main entrance door leaded glass lite.

Figure 8.28: Stain finish of main entrance is in poor condition
due to general wear and tear and lack of stain maintenance.

Porch 107 Door (North )

A door located on the northeast corner of the
original building provides entry into the rear Porch
107 of the building and access into the Kitchen. The
33” wide by 72” high arched door is constructed
of tongue-and-groove wood boards held together
with a flat Z-shaped board frame on the interior
(Figure 8.26). Upper side lites follow the arch of the
door frame but both lites have been covered with
plywood. Door hardware consists of a hand forged
black iron door pull and an interior thumb latch.
The existing wood threshold was replaced during
the 2003 restoration.

Father’s Study/Second Floor Balcony Door

The second story exterior door provides access
from the Father’s Study to the exterior balcony
located above the Entry Vestibule and Entry Porch.
The door is solid wood 28” wide by 68” high with
two lower raised panels that measure 8 3/4” by 27
1/4” and upper glazed divided lites (3/3/3/3) that
together measure 22” by 36 3/4”. The original door
frame and sill were rehabilitated, and a new door
was installed in 2003. Hardware consists of an oil-
rubbed bronze mortise lock, deadbolt, hinges, and
an anodized metal threshold.

Condition

Overall, all doors are in good condition with some
stain and paint failure, rusted hardware, and dirt
build-up. The main entrance door is in fair condition
with significant surface wear-and-tear at the mid/
lower areas of the exterior wood surfaces and frame
area on the latch side of the door. Wood stain on the
door and paint on the door threshold are missing,
delaminating, and damaged. The black metal straps
and latch escutcheon plate are rusting and the bronze
rivets holding the metal to the wood are oxidizing,
likely due to exposure in the saline environment
and galvanic corrosion. Lead came that serves as the
structural system supporting the glass has deteriorated
at several solder joints on the leaded glass lite and side
lites (Figure 8.27). Wood and glazing in the Basement/
Kitchen door on the east facade is in fair condition.
The bottom rail of the door is in poor condition
with deterioration at joinery and paint failure on
the surface (Figure 8.28). Paint is also worn at the
door threshold. A gap between the bottom rail and
door threshold, indicates the door is not level. Door
hardware is rusting and weatherstripping is failing
at many doors. The side lites at Porch 107 door have
been covered with plywood boards, weatherstripping
is missing from the threshold, and wood surfaces at
the landing/stairs are slippery.
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WINDOWS

The building has assorted window types which
include double-hung, fixed, awning, and casement.
All windows on the original building area are a
combination of wood stile-and-rail sash and frame
construction of various types and dimensions, some
with leaded glass. All windows on the apartment
addition are of vinyl construction with insulated
glazing. Traditional double-hung wood windows
include both restored windows and reproduction
replica windows with both types using insulated
or single lite glazing without weatherstripping.
All double-hung windows have intact sash horn
detailing. Window groupings include individual
and mulled units along with oriel and bay windows
supported by decorative brackets on the south and
west facades. Larger windows at the first-floor have
fixed window transoms above both the fixed picture
window and operable sashes (Figure 8.29). Windows
typically have 3/4” x 2 1/2” exterior wood trim and
decorative molding for exterior stops. Window
glazing consists of either 1” insulated glass at large
fixed picture windows, single thickness glazing at
most locations, and leaded glass in select locations.
Some windows were replaced with replica units in
2003, while other windows were restored, which
included the replacement of deteriorated glazing
putty. At some point after the 2003 restoration, new
wood sash fixed-type windows with eight divided
lites (2/2/2/2) were added to the southwest corner
of the Entry Vestibule.

Condition

Windows vary from fair to good condition,
with paint loss and minor wood deterioration
visible in localized areas. Paint, glazing putty, and
weatherstripping have deteriorated and are missing
on several windows. Failed paint and putty allow
moisture to penetrate the window sash promoting
further paint spalling and wood deterioration. Lack
of weatherstripping allows cold air to infiltrate into
building spaces. Window sills are consistently dirty,
with evidence of biological growth and mildew on
the sill and trim of windows in Meeting Room 209
on the north. Several windows on the south, east,
and west facades have weathered window sills and
aprons exhibiting paint loss and weathered wood
(Figure 8.30 and Figure 8.31). The Living Room bay
window on the south wall has evidence of moisture
acculumation on the wood sills and interior walls.
Insulated glazing seals are failing on the south bay
window. Second-floor windows on the east (in
Closet 210) and west (Closet 205) facades have
significant staining on the upper casing and rail,

Figure 8.29: Larger first-floor fixed window with upper
transom lites at south .

Figure 8.30: Weathered and deteriorated window sill on
south bay window.

Figure 8.31: Paint failure on east Entry Vestibule window.
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Figure 8.32: Staining on the upper casing and rail, with
paint failure visible on the sill at Closet 205 window.

Figure 8.33: Interior moisture damage visible on the interior
of sills at southeast Entry Vestibule windows.

Figure 8.34: Intact plaster wall finish with original wood
wainscoting in Living Room.

with paint failure visible on the sill (Figure 8.32).
Interior moisture intrusion has occurred on several
of the interior sills of windows, including the south
bay window in the Living Room, southeast Entry
Vestibule windows, and Bishop’s Closet (205) on
the second floor, indicating prolonged exposure to
humidity and some liquid moisture (Figure 8.33).
Double-hung windows in the Office (203) on the
second floor of the south fagade have sashes that are
not balanced, possibly due to incorrect or missing
sash weights. Leaded glass windows on the second
floor were only assessed from the interior and
appear to be in good condition.

INTERIOR CONDITIONS

INTERIOR ACCESSIBILITY

The first-floor is partially accessible through the
exterior entrance located on the east facade of
Fellowship Hall. There is no accessible entrance
to the Basement and no accessible connection
from the first-floor to either the Basement, second-
floor, or Attic levels. Users can circulate through
most of the first-floor spaces, including Fellowship
Hall, Dining Room, Living Room, Entry Vestibule
(accessed from the Living Room) and Kitchen. Most
of the user features on the first-floor are accessible,
but the restrooms located in Fellowship Hall are
not fully accessible lacking the required clear floor
space for turning and at plumbing fixtures.

Condition

The Basement and second-floor of the building
are not accessible from the interior or the exterior
and the designated accessible entrance is not fully
accessible (as described in the Site and Exterior
Features section). The building lacks a code-
compliant accessible restroom at the first-floor.

INTERIOR WALLS

Interior wall finishes are typically original plaster on
wood lath with some non-original gypsum board in
spaces that have undergone renovation. All walls are
painted bright white except Fellowship Hall which
is painted beige. The Entry Vestibule, Living Room,
Dining Room and first floor stairway all have intact
plaster wall finish with original wood wainscoting
applied directly on top of the plaster (Figure 8.34).
The wainscoting is configured with a plate rail or
shelf at 5’-4” above the floor at all locations except
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at the stairway where the plate rail is approximately
3’-0” high. Beneath the plate rail are vertical wood
battens 2 5/8" wide with angled ogee trim at batten
sides that are spaced over burlap-covered plaster
panels, creating a striped appearance around the
rooms. Wainscoting in the Entry Vestibule is taller
than other rooms at 7°-8 3/4” from the floor to the
top of the crown molding. All interior wainscoting,
plate rail, and baseboard wood at the first-floor
original rooms is Douglas fir stained dark and all
panels are covered with burlap painted white. The
Living Room and Dining Room have a continuous
wood plate rail that measures 3/4" wide by 8 1/8"
tall. All original rooms at the first floor have a
baseboard with a height of 9" that is integrated
with the batten wainscoting. Wood baseboards are
covered by hydronic electric baseboard heaters
at certain locations on the first and second floors.
Fellowship Hall interior walls are gypsum board
with simple tongue-and-groove, clear-finished,
cedar paneling and trim at the lower section of the
walls. Partition walls in the Basement are finished
with gypsum board, and gypsum board was installed
in the Kitchen to replace the original plaster and
lath during the 2003 restoration. All interior walls
on the second level of the original house are plaster
finish with door head height picture rail molding
in every room except the hallway, bathroom, and
closets. Wall plaster is applied integral with ceiling
plaster creating a coved transition at the wall ceiling
joint in most second-floor rooms. Walls are painted
a variety of colors including beige, typically at wall
surfaces below the picture rail, white at wall surfaces
above the rail, and a light lavender below the picture
rail at Meeting Room 209. Wood door casing and
baseboards in the second-floor hallway are stained
dark, while casing and intact baseboards in the
bedrooms are painted beige.

Condition

Most original plaster wall finishes have been
retained, though some replacement with modern
gypsum board have occurred throughout the
building. Overall, the condition of the interior walls
is fair to good with the most significant and repetitive
issue being deterioration of the burlap wall panel
coverings and deterioration of the underlying
plaster in various locations at the Entry Vestibule,
Living Room, Dining Room, and stairway landing
(Figure 8.35). High humidity in the Entry Vestibule
is causing delamination of the burlap wall covering
and plaster deterioration. Loose, crumbling plaster
was also observed at multiple location in the Entry
Vestibule. Cracks in plaster walls were detected
in several rooms on the second floor, with most

Figure 8.35: Plaster and burlap wall panel coverings in poor
condition on the interior wall beneath the bay window in
the Living Room.

Figure 8.36: Significant crack in plaster wall next to copper
pipe in Storage 204.
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Figure 8.37: Damaged and cracked plaster below south Figure 8.40: Water damage on ceiling and walls in Entry
facing window in Office 203 on the second level. Vestibule.
Figure 8.38: Moisture intrusion related to exterior gutters Figure 8.41: Moisture stains on plaster ceiling in Closet 210.

has delaminated and cracked plaster walls below the
window sill of Closet 205.

Figure 8.39: Original wood coffered beam and infill panel Figure 8.42: Interior floors are typically carpet installed over
ceilings in Dining Room. tongue-and-groove wood flooring.
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significant cracking and plaster deterioration visible in Storage 204 (Figure
8.36). A significant vertical crack was detected next to a rusted copper pipe the
entire height of the closet wall, along with other diagonal hairline cracks that
extend to the ceiling and miscellaneous holes create for pipe routing. Plaster
directly below the south facing windows in Office 203 has moisture damage
and surface cracking (Figure 8.37). Picture rail molding has separated from
the wall in Meeting Room 209 where the molding was cut and not adequately
secured to the wall. The plaster walls surrounding the window in Closet 205
are significantly cracked and delaminated due to exposure from moisture
associated with the exterior gutter (Figure 8.38). Walls and ceiling above the
window in Closet 210 have water damage likely associated with leaks around
the Boiler Room chimney in the Attic above. There was no insulation observed
in building walls. Lack of insulation leads to increased use of energy and poor
occupant thermal comfort.

CEILINGS

Typical ceiling finishes in most interior rooms at the first and second floors,
except the acoustical tile ceilings in the addition, are plaster painted white.
The Entry Vestibule, Living Room, and Dining Room have original wood
coffered beam and infill panel ceilings using the same dark stained Douglas fir
wood material found at the wainscoting (Figure 8.39). The Basement ceilings
are exposed floor joists painted white. Attic ceilings are primarily unfinished
square edge boards and roughsawn wood planks applied directly to underside
of rafters with some wood surfaces partially finished with burlap or wallpaper.

Condition

The condition of interior ceilings is fair to good, with water damage in localized
areas. Damage due to moisture exposure is primarily at the Entry Vestibule,
second level and Attic ceilings. While the ceiling wood finish in the Entry
Vestibule has been restored, there are areas of water damage and suggest that the
roof membrane above the exterior porch may not be watertight (Figure 8.40).
Storage 204 has a significant crack in the plaster where piping was installed, as
well as hairline cracks in plaster walls that extend to the ceiling (Figure 8.40).
Moisture stains in the Closet 210 appear to be associated with the brick chimney
as discussed in the Interior Walls section (Figure 8.41). Significant stains caused
by water damage in the Attic ceilings and walls suggest widespread problems
with roof leaks in the past.

INTERIOR FLOORS

The interior floors of the house are typically carpet which has been installed
over tongue-and-groove wood flooring at the original rooms of the main floor
including the Vestibule, Living Room, and Dining Room (Figure 8.42). Wood
species under the carpet was not visible except for the white oak border around
the fireplace hearth. Carpet is also installed at Fellowship Hall but the substrate
was not observed. The floor level between the Fellowship Hall and the Dining
Room is not level as evidenced by a notable dip in the flooring. Resilient sheet
flooring has been installed in the Kitchen, Coffee, and Serving Rooms (which
lead to the Dining Room), and the restrooms on the first level. Most of the rooms
on the second-floor have retained the original 3/4" by 3 1/4" tongue-and-groove
Douglas fir flooring, except the upstairs Bathroom/Laundry, Father’s Study, and
the Bishop’s Bedroom. Flooring in the Bathroom/Laundry consists of resilient
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Figure 8.43: Worn and exposed surface of wood flooring in
Office 203.

Figure 8.44: Damaged floor tiles at door threshold of
Father's Study.

sheet flooring in a faux square tile pattern. Original
flooring in Father’s Study has been covered with 9”
by 9” resilient flooring tiles that have the potential
to contain asbestos. The Bishop’s Bedroom and
part of the hallway to the entrance of the door has
been covered with green carpet.

Condition

The carpet flooring is very worn, especially in the
Entry Vestibule and Living Room. The original
tongue-and-groove wood floors are in fair condition
in locations that were visible. Wood flooring shows
signs of accumulative wear-and-tear use over the
years. The finish is worn in many areas, exposing
the wood to the extent that the surface has become
fibrous. There are small, regular dents in the
second-floor wood floors observed in the hallway
and Office 203, possibly from a previous resilient
flooring or carpeting installation. Floor tiles in the
Father’s Study are chipping and damaged at the
door threshold. Floor tiles have the potential to
contain hazardous material, such as asbestos, and
are recommended for further investigation.

INTERIOR DOORS

All original wood doors consist of stile-and-rail
construction with some variance in paneling
material. Interior doors have either a rectangular
upper lite with three narrow, vertical lites below,
while other doors have an upper wood panel with
three vertical wood panels below. Glazing likely
replaced wood to allow more natural light into
interior rooms on the second floor. Doors on
first floor all appear to be original and include the
Storage 109 closet door beneath the stairs, Vestibule
to Living Room door (Figure 8.45), and the Kitchen
to the Basement stiars. Doors providing entry to
interior rooms on the second floor, include Father’s
Study, Meeting Room, Office, Bishop’s Bedroom,
and the Attic entrance. The original Bathroom
(Room 208) door has been replaced with a flush
wood door. The upper lites of the Entry Vestibule,
Storage 109, Bathroom/Work Room, and Attic
entry doors have upper wood panels that are either
stained or painted to match the door finish. Three
lower wood panels that are narrow in width extend
from above the bottom rail up to the bottom edge of
the cross rail. All original interior doors located on
the second floor have three lower panels between
wood mullions that have been replaced with lites,
with exception of the Bathroom/Work Room
and Attic doors (Figure 8.46). Original hardware
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Figure 8.45: Original Vestibule door that leads to the Living Figure 8.47: Intact bronze doorknob with riveted push plate.
Room.

Figure 8.46: Vertical lites have replaced the lower wood Figure 8.48: Uneven staining and discoloration on Attic
panels on a majority of doors on the second floor. door.
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Figure 8.49: The brick fireplace is no longer operable since
the removal of the exterior chimney above the roofline.

Figure 8.50: Evidence of deterioration and spalling of brick
surface, and damaged tile grout.

Figure 8.51: The original Dining Room built-in between the
Kitchen and Dining Room.

consisting of abronze knob and a riveted push plate,
matching the exterior entrance door are intact on
all second floor interior doors and the Storage 109
door on the first floor (Figure 8.47). Hardware on
the Vestibule door has been replaced with a modern
circular bronze knob without a plate, though
staining indicates the door initially had a plate.

Several original doors have been removed from the
See House, while several doors have been added
to interior spaces that were modified. The original
doors that led from the Serving and Coffee areas
to the Kitchen were removed, though the original
door frames and hinges remain intact. The original
pocket doors located on the south wall between
the Living Room and Dining Room were also
removed. The Kitchen door that provides access
to the Basement level is painted a deep red color,
while the second floor Bathroom/Laundry door to
the Work Room is painted white. Fiberglass doors
are fitted in partition wall openings that were added
to the interior of the Basement. All interior doors in
the Fellowship Hall addition are non-original and
include a narrow closet with a flush wood door,
fitted with a brass knob handle and a wide flush
wood bathroom door, fitted with a brass lever.

Condition

All interior doors are in good condition with
evidence of normal surface wear. Upper and lower
glazing lites are in good condition, though upper
and lower lites are likely not original. There is
evidence of surface wear and scratches on wood
doors, jambs, and casing, with the most visible wear
on the bottom rails and lock stiles. Wood doors on
the first floor have a dark stain, consistent with other
interior wood detailing, while the second floor
interior doors appear to be more worn or have a
shellac or clear finish rather than a dark stain. Door
hardware is in good condition without any visible
signs of rust. The wood finish is wearing unevenly
on several doors and casings. (Figure 8.48)

INTERIOR FEATURES

FIREPLACE

The original brick fireplace located at the center
of the west Living Room wall, positioned between
the inglenook is no longer operable due to the
removal of the exterior chimney above the roofline
(Figure 8.49). An electric fireplace insert has been
placed in the opening and a polished brass plated
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fireplace screen with mesh curtains currently covers the opening. The glazed
brick fireplace has thin mortar joints and measures 7°-3” wide, with a height of
4°-8 1/2” from the floor to the top of the wood mantel. The opening measures
2’-10" by 2’-6” tall and is capped with a rowlock course of bricks configured
in a segmental arch. The wood mantel has an angled cut at the underside and
measures 2 5/8” wide by 7 5/8” tall and is stained dark, matching other interior
wood details in the Living Room. Below the wood mantel are two decorative
brick corbels comprised of stepped bricks that are 8 »” wide and spaced
approximately 8” to 9”. The original hearth at the base of the fireplace has been
replaced with square ceramic tiles.

Condition

The fireplace is in poor condition with evidence of mortar deterioration,
spalling bricks, and visible surface staining and discoloration. Mortar joints are
thin and appear to be crumbling. Lower bricks show evidence of spalling with
visible deterioration on the face (Figure 8.50). Original glazing and the surface
of facing bricks are significantly deteriorated, possibly from past use of abrasive
cleaning methods and/or tools. The interior brick chimney has visible water
stains from past moisture intrusion and damage. Several bricks are missing from
the interior fireplace due to erosion and deterioration of the mortar. The brass
fireplace screen has evidence of oxidization on the bottom panel. Non-original
ceramic floor tiles at the edge of the carpet are loose and damage was visible,
including chipping and cracking. The tile grout has deteriorated and is missing
in areas (Figure 8.50).

BUILT-IN CABINET

The original Dining Room built-in cabinet continues to function as a serving
counter between the Kitchen and Dining Room (Figure 8.51). The opening
measures 7’-1” wide and is framed with plain pilasters with an upper wood
entablature, consisting of a frieze and cornice that measures 1 %2” wide by 5 %4”
high that extend above the picture molding. Below the cornice is decorative
dentil molding that extends the length of the frieze. The lower portion of the
built-in has three drawers directly below the counter and two cabinets situated
on each side of a cutout shelf with decorative detailing and a beadboard
interior. A single drawer, identical to the upper drawer is situated below the
shelf. Hardware consists of brass knobs and hinges. All wood has a dark stained
finish, consistent with other wood detailing on the first floor. The original
counter on the built-in has been replaced with a thick laminate countertop.

Condition

The original Dining Room built-in is in good condition, without any signs of
wood decay or damage. The finish stain has worn in areas due to normal wear
and use. While the laminate countertop is not considered in kind, it does not
significantly detract from the overall historic character of the interior and is
consistent with other surface finishes that have been significantly modified in
the Kitchen.

91



See House Historic Structure Report

Figure 8.52: Mechanical heating system in the Boiler Room.

Figure 8.53: Overhead electrical wires and plumbing pipes. Figure 8.54: Historic lighting has been updated and replaced.
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EQUIPMENT

ELECTRICAL

Mechanical systems located in the Broiler Room consist of the hydronic boiler,
serving the baseboard heating system, and electric water heater, providing hot
water to plumbing fixtures. The electrical main distribution panel and subpanel
are mounted to the south wall in the southeast corner of the Basement room.
Multiple electrical circuits serving the power and lighting in the See House
extend from the panels and are routed through the first floor joists alongside
plastic and copper water piping. There is an additional electrical panel located
on the south wall of the Attic stairs. The water meter is located on the east
exterior wall near the Storage 108 window. Functioning hydronic baseboard
heaters are mounted at the base of first floor, second floor, and Attic walls.
Lighting consists of fluorescent and semi-flush mounted ceiling light fixtures.
Electrical systems in the See House, including the historic light fixtures have
been updated and replaced.

Condition

The Boiler Room currently operates as a mechanical room with miscellaneous
furnshings and maintenance-related items stored in the room. The storage of
materials poses a safety hazard and prevents a clear pathway through the room
and code required access to mechanical equipment and electrical panels. First
floor joists in the ceiling of the Boiler Room have been extensively drilled for
electrical wiring and piping compromising their ability to support overhead
structural loads.
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9. Integrity Assessment

Under the National Register of Historic Places criteria, there are seven aspects
of integrity: location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling, and
association. In order for a property to retain historic integrity, a majority
of the seven aspects must be maintained. Assessing the overall integrity of a
property assists in measuring the ability of the property to convey its historical
significance. Assessing a building's integrity entails understanding the physical
features and how they convey significance. The retention of specific elements
of historic integrity to the defined period of significance is important when
assessing integrity.

The seven aspects of integrity are defined as follows:

* Location is the place where the historic property was constructed or the
place where the historic event occurred.

» Design is the combination of elements that create the form, plan, space,
structure, and style of a property.

» Setting is the physical environment of a historic property.

*  Materialsare the physical elements that were combined or deposited during
a particular period of time and in a particular pattern or configuration to
form a historic property.

*  Workmanship is the physical evidence of the crafts of a particular culture
or people during any given period in history or prehistory.

o Feeling is a property's expression of the aesthetic or historic sense of a
particular period of time.

* Associationis the directlink between an important historic event or person
and a historic property.

The period of significance for the See House extends from its construction
in 1905, to 1912 when Bishop Rowe moved to Seattle. Overall, the See House
retains a good amount of historic integrity, though the alterations that have
occurred over time have impacted some of the aspects of integrity.

LOCATION

The building sits in its original location, as does St. Peter’s by-the-Sea, in front
to the north, and together they form an associated grouping situated on their
original parcels on the north side of Lincoln Street.

DESIGN

In design, the exterior of the See House retains significant integrity. However,
the basement level entry and roof awning visually detracts from the character of
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the front facade (Figure 9.1). Additionally, the use of synthetic roofing shingles
that are much thicker in profile alters the overall character of the house (Figure
9.2). The majority of the windows have been replaced or repaired using in kind
materials. The leaded glass windows were retained and repaired. The stone
chimney, integral with the stone inglenook, was removed in 2003 for seismic
reasons. Lastly, the 1956 Fellowship addition to the rear, which houses the
parish hall downstairs and an Apartment upstairs, could have been executed
such that the transition from the historic house to the new two-story element
was less jarring. At the interior, some finishes have been lost or are in poor
condition. The pocket doors from the Living Room to the Dining Room have
been removed. The wood flooring is obscured by carpet in many locations. For
the most part the historic floor plan is intact. Overall, these alterations have not
significantly change the Queen Anne and Shingle style influences of the design
of the See House.

SETTING

The setting of the See House has been modestly changed from when it was
originally built. The adjacent parcels to the east and west have newer structures,
but none that drastically changes the setting. The extensive asphalt paving
between the church and the See House to accommodate cars and vehicular
circulation has impacted the setting.

MATERIALS

The materials of the See House are largely intact or replaced in kind, with the
exception of the roofing material. The use of synthetic roofing shingles that are
much thicker in profile somewhat alters the overall character of the house. The
wood windows have been extensively repaired or replaced, but the leaded glass
was retained. At the interior, the wood flooring is obscured by carpet. However,
over time these interventions have not impaired the high quality of the materials
used in the design of the See House.

WORKMANSHIP

The original workmanship of house has been retained with the exception
of the use of synthetic roofing material. Further, the workmanship of the rear
addition is of an overall lesser quality to that of the original house. The present
integrity of the workmanship, through years of careful stewardship by the
congregation, is high.

FEELING

The See House retains the strong feeling of a Queen Anne and Shingle style-
influenced residential property, especially when viewed from Lincoln Street
with the church in the foreground.

ASSOCIATION

The See House has retained its association with Bishop Peter Trimble Rowe
and the Episcopal Diocese of Alaska. The house also retains its physical and
historical association, as well as its shared congregational uses with St. Peter’s
by-the-Sea.
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Figure 9.1: The Basement level entry, awning, and roof Figure 9.2: Materials are largely intact or replaced in kind,
changes the character of the front facade. with exception of the synthetic roofing shingles.

Figure 9.3: The house retains the strong feeling of the Queen Anne and Shingle styles.
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10. Future Use & Treatment
Recommendations

INTRODUCTION

Over the years, the See House has changed from its original function as a
private residence to serving as a community event and gathering place for
local organizations and the St. Peter's by-the-Sea congregation. The second
floor of the See House provides administrative offices and workspace for the
congregation. Considering the building's change in historical use and current
use, it is recommended that any future projects and upgrades proposed for the
See House follow the Rehabilitation treatment. Rehabilitation will provide the
congregation with flexibility for future changes, as well as address and improve
site accessibility and building egress. Future treatment efforts should be carried
out without altering character-defining features that convey the building's
historic character and integrity. Recommended treatment will continue to
preserve significant historic features of the See House by following the National
Park Service's Secretary of Interior’s Standards of treatment guidelines that
prioritize repair over replacement.

Treatment recommendations are listed and organized according to priority
needs. Individual recommendations within each building element are listed
hierarchically from the highest concerns down to those of lesser concern. Each
priority level will have a corresponding duration for recommended treatment,
while maintenance activities will be listed with recommended frequency
intervals.

High priority = immediate to 2 years
Medium priority = 2 to 5 years
Low priority = 5 to 10 years

The Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties
defines four primary treatment approaches: Preservation, Rehabilitation,
Restoration and Reconstruction. Each treatment approach has its own standards
and general recommendations according to the property's significance, existing
physical condition, and documentation. The recommended approach of
Rehabilitation as defined by the National Park Service is as follows:

Rehabilitation

Rehabilitation is defined as the act or process of making possible a compatible
use for a property through repair, alterations, and additions while preserving
those portions or features which convey its historical, cultural, or architectural
values. The Rehabilitation Standards acknowledge the need to alter or add to a
historic building to meet continuing or new uses while retaining the building’s
historic character.
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TREATMENT RECOMMENDATIONS

GENERAL BUILDING

Create a Preservation Maintenance Guide to identify, organize, schedule,
and documentrequired maintenance activities. [High priority =immediate
to 2 years]

SITE

1.

Conduct a topographic survey in concert with St. Peter’s by-the-
Sea Episcopal Church building to document existing site conditions.
Survey information will provide the basis for addressing accessibility,
drainage, parking, and pedestrian and vehicle circulation. (Figure 10.1)
[High priority = immediate to 2 years]

Provide code-compliantaccessible route from designated accessible parking
to accessible building entry. The current designated accessible parking
space and route to the concrete walkway and entry at the east facade of
Fellowship Hall do not meet slope or width requirements. The Entry Porch
of the Fellowship Hall exterior does not provide minimum clear floor area
at door or have code-required guardrails and edge protection. (Figure 10.1)
[High priority = immediate to 2 years]

Prune and remove overgrown vegetation around building walls to limit
organic material contact with building materials and moisture retention
in soils adjacent to foundation walls. [During regularly scheduled
maintenance intervals]

BUILDING EXTERIOR

SITE ACCESSIBILITY

1.

Provide a code-compliant accessible parking space including access zone
and required signage. (Figure 10.2) [High priority = immediate to 2 years]

Provide a code-compliant accessible route from designated accessible
parking to accessible building entry. The current designated accessible
parking space and route to the concrete walkway and entry at the east of
Fellowship Hall do not meet slope or width requirements. The entry porch
of the Fellowship Hall does not provide the minimum clear floor area at the
door or code-compliant guardrails and edge protection. [High priority =
immediate to 2 years]

Provide code-compliant landing and guardrails at the exterior door leading
into Fellowship Hall at the north facade. [High priority = immediate to 2
years]
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Figure 10.1: Conduct a topographic survey in concert with St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Episcopal Church building.

Figure 10.2: Provide a code-compliant accessible parking space including access zone and required signage.
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4.

It is recommended that the first floor of Fellowship Hall serve as the
location for future community meetings and gatherings in order to provide
a code-compliant accessible space at the See House located on the first
floor. [High priority = immediate to 2 years]

Provide handrails on both sides of stairs at all exterior building
entrances. Handrails with a simple design of round metal tubing, that
are distinguishable from other historic features, and do not visually
distract from the historic character of the See House are recommended.
Galvanized handrails, 1 1/2" in diameter set in concrete with a wall return
are recommended. Entrances that lack code-compliant handrails include
the stairs to the basement (south facade), Apartment entry stairs, and
Kitchen rear entry stairs (north facade). [High priority = immediate to 2
years]

INTERIOR ACCESSIBILITY

1.

Install a code-compliant accessible restroom in Fellowship Hall including
an accessible route from room entry, clear floor areas at restroom door and
plumbing fixtures, clear floor space for turnaround within the room, and
accessible plumbing fixtures and restroom accessories. (Figure 10.3) [High
priority = immediate to 2 years]

Provide accessibility to the basement and second floor. Initial corrective
measure should be providing code compliant handrails at both sets of
existing stairs to Basement. Long-term barrier removal will need to include
an accessible lift serving all occupied floors of the building. (Figure 10.4)
[Medium priority = 2-5 years]

THERMAL ENVELOPE

1.

Install weatherstripping at all exterior doors and operable windows as part
of an overall strategy to reduce heat loss from the building and limit air
infiltration. [High priority = immediate to 2 years]

Preservation Brief 3: Improving Energy Efficiency in Historic Buildings
recommends conducting an energy audit to evaluate current energy use of
building and identify deficiencies in the building envelope or mechanical
systems prior to implementing any measures to improve thermal
performance. Energy audit to include assessment of temporary (high
occupancy events such as masses) and regular (daily low occupancy use)
space conditioning needs. [Medium priority = 2 to 5 years]

An energy audit is recommended before implementing energy conserving
measures, such as insulating the building. Future energy retrofitting
measures should be selected based on the lowest level of intervention and
avoid negatively impacting the building’s historic character and integrity, or
the alteration of significant historic features and fabric. [Medium priority
=2to 5 years]

Currently there is no insulation in building walls or building attic leading
to increased use of heating energy and poor occupant thermal comfort.
As recommended by the National Park Service, wall insulation must be
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Figure 10.3: Install a code-compliant accessible restroom at Figure 10.5: Cast-in-place concrete and wood framing-to-
Fellowship Hall. masonry.

Figure 10.4: Provide code-compliant handrails at both sets Figure 10.6: First floor joists should be evaluated by a
of existing stairs to Basement. structural engineer.

103



See House Historic Structure Report

Figure 10.7: Inspect gutters to ensure proper roof drainage. Figure 10.10: Prime and paint exposed wood surfaces at east
dormer.
Figure 10.8: Add additional downspouts to See House and Figure 10.11: Restore balustrade at roof balcony.

Fellowship Hall. Photo credit: Grant Crosby

Figure 10.9: Replace synthetic shake roof with cedar shingle Figure 10.12: Replace plywood with tongue-and-groove
material after lifespan has ended. beadboard at soffits.
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evaluated as part of the overall goal to improve the thermal efficiency of a
building and should only be considered after the installation of attic and
basement insulation. [Medium priority = 2 to 5 years]

STRUCTURAL SYSTEMS

1.

Foundation walls in some areas are a combination of cast-in-place concrete
at the lower section with rubble masonry above the exterior ground line.
Structural integrity of masonry-to-concrete joints and wood framing-
to-masonry should be evaluated by a structural engineer for lateral force
capacity. (Figure 10.5) [High priority = immediate to 2 years]

First floor joists over the Basement Boiler Room and Restroom have
been significantly compromised by random holes that provide routing
for electrical and plumbing utilities. A structural engineer should review
the existing conditions and provide recommendations for corrective
strengthening. (Figure 10.6) [High priority = immediate to 2 years]

Provide a structural plywood diaphragm at roof during reroofing
cyclic maintenance. [Low priority = 5 to 10 years]

ROOF AND GUTTERS

1.

Direct downspout discharge away from building walls to prevent soil
saturation around building, wetting of building walls and masonry near
grade, and potential water intrusion into subgrade foundation walls. [High
priority = immediate to 2 years]

Install foam backer rod at standing seam roof and wall interface above the
south bay window to prevent snow and wind-driven rain from infiltrating
the wall cavity and interior. Monitor moisture exposure on south wall
below bay window. [High priority = immediate to 2 years]

Repair crack in copper downspout serving the leader at the north side of
the Entry Porch and properly secure downspout to wall. [High priority =
immediate to 2 years]

Add additional downspouts to the gutter runs at the northeast and southwest
corners of the Fellowship Hall/Apartment addition to improve and mitigate
roof runoff. Reinstall missing downspout on west facade between the
Bishop’s Bedroom and Closet 205 window to direct roof runoft away from
exterior walls and masonry. (Figure 10.8) [High priority = immediate to
2 years]

The recent reroofing project installed a synthetic plastic roof shake as the
finished roofing material which is not considered an in kind or compatible
material for the historic resource. When the functional lifespan of the
synthetic shake roofing has ended, replace with cedar shingle material
matching the church roof. (Figure 10.9) [Low priority = 5 to 10 years]
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6. Clean gutters and downspouts on scheduled maintenance intervals at least
twice a year. Include scheduled cleanings at the beginning and end of the
fall season or early spring. Adjust cleaning schedule based upon observed
conditions. Inspect the roof/gutter/downspout system for proper drainage
around the building and repair or replace components as needed. [During
regularly scheduled maintenance intervals]

7. Inspect slope at gutters to ensure proper roof drainage. (Figure 10.7)
[During regularly scheduled maintenance intervals]

EXTERIOR WALLS

1. Prime and paint exposed wood surfaces (fascia and bargeboard) at second
floor dormer on east . (Figure 10.10) [High priority = immediate to 2
years]

2. Restore balustrade at roof above entry porch including cleaning, review
of anchorage and wood integrity, and repainting. (Figure 10.11) [High
priority = immediate to 2 years]

3. Seal all gaps at joint between base of wall trim and exposed foundation
walls. This condition was identified on the east facade near the main
electrical panel. [High priority = immediate to 2 years]

4. Replace plywood at soffits with in kind tongue-and-groove beadboard
paneling, painted white. (Figure 10.12) [Low priority = 5 to 10 years]

5. Clean rusted dryer vents at east wall of apartment addition and replace as
necessary. [During regularly scheduled maintenance intervals]

6. Remove vegetation and reduce soil levels adjacent to all exterior walls
to provide appropriate separation between wood elements and organic
material. Vegetation growing adjacent to stone masonry should be removed
to provide a minimum of 12 inches of clearance to prevent plant intrusion
into masonry grout joints. [During regularly scheduled maintenance
intervals]

7. Provide regular maintenance to remove biological growth (moss/mildew)
and soiling from shingle surfaces using recommended D/2 cleaning solution
and non-abrasive cleaning methods. (Figure 10.13) [During regularly
scheduled maintenance intervals]

8. Recommended intervals for repainting includes all exterior wood
components every 8-10 years and highly exposed shingle and trim
components every 5-8 years. [During regularly scheduled maintenance
intervals]

EXTERIOR STAIRS/RAMP/PORCHES

1. Woodstepsandlandingatthe north entrance to the Kitchen are slippery and
pose a safety hazard. Install handrails, non-slip treads, and clean regularly
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Figure 10.13: Remove biological growth and soiling from
shingle surfaces.

Figure 10.16: Remove biological growth from masonry walls.

Figure 10.14: Green staining from oxidization and runoff of
copper flashing above entry stairs.

Figure 10.15: Repair vertical mortar joint crack at north side Figure 10.17: Restore entry door and surrounding frame at
of chimney. Photo credit: Troy Feller south porch.
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to remove biological growth on surface. [High priority = immediate to 2
years]

Clean green stains off concrete Entry Porch stairs. Copper flashing at the
Entry Porch roof is oxidizing and dripping onto the concrete stairs creating
unsightly staining. (Figure 10.14) [Low priority =5 to 10 years]

EXTERIOR MASONRY

1.

Repair and repoint mortar at vertical mortar joint crack at north side of
chimney (below north window at the fireplace nook) on masonry wall on
the west fagade. Remove random imbedded nails in mortar joints at chimney
that have the potential to corrode. Hire a qualified mason or contractor with
a knowledge of historic buildings and building materials to conduct repairs
and repoint masonry wall. Ensure masonry repairs are conducted using
appropriate mortar mix with original workmanship techniques. Identify
and document a mortar mix that is compatible with the original mortar in
color and texture and with the same physical performance characteristics.
(Figure 10.15) [High priority = immediate to 2 years]

Remove efflorescence, moss, biological growth, and paint overspray from
masonry walls using D/2 Biological Solution. Apply with a soft nylon,
natural bristle brush, or hand pump (garden) sprayer and clean thoroughly
per manufacturer’s instructions using the gentlest means possible. (Figure
10.16) [During regularly scheduled maintenance intervals]

DOORS

1.

Restore entry door and surrounding frame at south porch, including
removal of paint coatings to bare wood, repair of loose stile-and-rail joints,
restoration of decayed/damaged wood material, and repainting. Repair and
repaint door frame and trim surround including repair of wood threshold.
Restore upper leaded glass window and replace missing and deteriorated
lead came at solder joints. Restore all door hardware including removal
of oxidization from metals components, repainting of painted surfaces,
and repair of operating parts for smooth operation. Install a new bronze
threshold over the wood threshold and install new kerf-in weatherstripping
(e.g. Q-LON) at frame jambs and header. (Figure 10.17) [High priority =
immediate to 2 years]

Remove localized rust from metals/hardware on all doors. Repaint all wood
door thresholds and sills at locations where wood is exposed and replace
or install weatherstripping on all exterior doors. [Medium priority = 2 to
5 years]

WINDOWS

1.

Inspect exterior and interior of second floor (Closet 205) window on
west facade for wood decay due to prolonged moisture exposure caused
by a faulty gutter. Remove and restore window and apply epoxy wood
consolidant and filler at areas of decay, repaint after repair to ensure proper
protection of wood. A Dutchman repair or in kind replacement of the wood
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will, depending on extend of rot is an alternative to epoxy treatment, but
should be performed by a qualified craftsman with knowledge of historic
buildings and materials. Clean and remove stains from upper casing.
Repaint all window components. Continue to monitor roof runoff at this
location and see Roof and Gutter recommendations to provide regular
maintenance of gutter above window. (Figure 10.18) [High priority =
immediate to 2 years]

Remove failing paint (peeling, chipping, delaminated) from deteriorated
wood sills and repaint wood sills and casing on all facades. Ensure there
is no evidence of wood decay or rot prior to primer and paint application.
(Figure 10.19) [High priority = immediate to 2 years]

Restore select wood windows that are displaying signs of deterioration
such as damaged wood, missing or delaminated paint, loose/missing
glazing putty, broken glass lites, lack of weatherstripping and hardware.
Restoration activities include sash/frame repair, glazing putty replacement,
glass replacement, repainting, and new weatherstripping/hardware. [High
priority = immediate to 2 years]

Replace failed insulated glass unit in the south bay window at the Living
Room. [Medium priority = 2 to 5 years]

Remove stain on window in Closet 210 on the second floor of the east
facade and repaint upper casing and rail. [Low priority =5 to 10 years]

Restore interior wood sashes and sills of Entry Vestibule windows at
southeast corner. Lightly sand to remove water stains and reapply clear
finish. [Medium priority = 2 to 5 years]

Clean all wood and leaded glass windows regularly using only water and
non-abrasive methods. Visually inspect both wood and lead window
components, including glazing putty. Implement a regular schedule of paint
and glazing putty maintenance, using a linseed oil putty at wood windows.
Assess operability of windows prior to removal and restore/repair if needed
to ensure smooth operation. Recommended maintenance interval is 4-5
years. [During regularly scheduled maintenance intervals]

BUILDING INTERIOR

INTERIOR WALLS

1.

Relocate archival collections currently located in the Attic to a better
conditioned space in the building or install a temperature and humidity
control system in attic. [High priority = immediate to 2 years]

Restore plaster and/or burlap wall finishes at areas where high humidity is
causing delamination of burlap wall covering and cracking/spalling/staining
of plaster. Address causes of high humidity (roof leaks, leaky windows,
inadequate heating/cooling equipment, wet clothing at Entry Vestibule)
before restoration work. Remove burlap material in the Entry Vestibule,
Living Room, Dining Room, and stairway landing. Restore deteriorated
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Figure 10.18: Inspect exterior and interior of Closet 205 Figure 10.20: Restore damaged plaster and/or burlap wall
window for wood decay and deterioration. finishes.

Figure 10.19: Remove failing paint from deteriorated wood Figure 10.21: Remove mildew from all wood surfaces in
sills and repaint to protect wood. Attic. Photo credit: Grant Crosby
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Figure 10.22: Restore deteriorated plaster wall finishes on Figure 10.24: Contact certified inspector to have tile flooring
first and second floors. in Father's Study tested for asbestos.
Figure 10.23: Repairhairline cracks and repaintceiling finishes Figure 10.25: Restore existing original wood floors on second

in storage closets on second floor. floor.

111



See House Historic Structure Report

plaster wall finishes, repair cracks, and repaint Entry Vestibule, Storage
204, Storage 205, and Storage 210. Consult historic interior specialist to
replace burlap fabric behind wainscoting in kind with a finer woven fabric,
like Linen Union. To prevent future plaster deterioration and moisture
accumulation, do not paint fabric. If visible, document original color of
burlap fabric behind wood molding as a guide toward selecting a restoration
product. (Figure 10.20) [Medium priority = 2 to 5 years]

Repair and restore plaster in Office 203 below window where moisture
damage occurred. [Medium priority = 2 to 5 years]

Repair picture rail molding and plaster in Meeting Room 209. Ensure
molding is level and secure to wall. [Low priority =5 to 10 years]

Remove mildew from all wood surfaces in the Attic. Preserve sample
of Attic wallpaper in an acid free box in church collections, and remove
severely water-stained wallpaper from Attic. Consult a qualified wallpaper
conservator or a historic interior specialist to replace the wallpaper in
kind. Replace wallpaper with historically appropriate wallpaper within the
period of significance (1900-1912) if the wallpaper was a later addition.
(Figure 10.21) [Low priority =5 to 10 years]

CEILINGS

Repair cracks, restore deteriorated plaster, and repaint ceiling finishes in
the Entry Vestibule, Storage 204, Closet 205, and Closet 210. (Figure 10.22
and Figure 10.23) [Low priority =5 to 10 years]

FLOORING

1.

Damaged resilient tile flooring in Father’s Study 202 has the potential
for asbestos containing material (ACM). Materials 40 years or older may
contain asbestos and if disturbed and/or damaged asbestos fibers may
become airborne. Contact certified inspector to have tiles tested for
asbestos/hazardous materials. If tile is removed, restore original wood
flooring. (Figure 10.24) [High priority = immediate to 2 years]

Restore existing original Douglas-fir tongue-and-groove wood floors on
the second floor that are exhibiting significant surface wear. (Figure 10.25)
[Medium priority = 2 to 5 years]

Install ceramic tile or resilient flooring at Entry Vestibule due to the high
traffic use at this location. Original tongue-and-groove Douglas Fir flooring
consistent with original wood flooring on the second floor is likely intact
underneath existing carpet. An alternative treatment is to remove carpet and
restore original flooring throughout the Entry Vestibule. This treatment is
more compatible with the historic character of the building but will require
a higher level of maintenance to ensure the ongoing integrity of the wood
flooring. [Medium priority = 2 to 5 years]
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Figure 10.26: Restore original interior doors on first and Figure 10.28: Remove hazardous materials stored in

second floors. basement or install fire lockers for safe containment.
Figure 10.27: Remove existing non-original tiles that are in Figure 10.29: Remove material stored in Boiler Room to
poor condition from the fireplace hearth. provide a clear pathway and code required access to

mechanical equipment and electrical panels.
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INTERIOR DOORS

1.

Restore interior doors on first and second floors. Gently sand and reapply
stain/finish on doors and casings. Restore upper lites currently infilled with
wood and remove glazing from lower vertical panels. Restore panels with in
kind Douglas fir. (Figure 10.26) [Low priority = 5 to 10 years]

Replace non-original Bathroom 208 door with historically compatible
door. [Low priority =5 to 10 years]

INTERIOR FEATURES

(BUILT-IN) AND WOODWORK

Reapply stain finish to worn areas of Dining Room built-in cabinet.
Continue to maintain all decorative woodwork throughout the See House
interior and reapply stain finish on an as-needed basis. [Low priority = 5
to 10 years]

FIREPLACE

Remove existing non-original tiles that are in poor condition from
the fireplace hearth and replace with compatible tiles that are period
appropriate. (Figure 10.27) [Low priority =5 to 10 years]

EQUIPMENT

SAFETY

1.

Remove hazardous materials stored in basement or install fire lockers for
safe containment. (Figure 10.28) [High priority = immediate to 2 years]

2. Remove material stored in Boiler Room to provide a clear pathway through
the room and code required access to mechanical equipment and electrical
panels. (Figure 10.29) [High priority = immediate to 2 years]

ELECTRICAL

Hire a qualified electrician to evaluate current power usage and inspect
electrical main distribution panel in basement to determine any code
deficiencies and need for upgrades. [High priority = immediate to 2 years]
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Early view of the completed See House. Source: St. Peter's
by-the-Sea Archives.

An early view of the See House after recent snow fall. Source: St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Archives.
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An early view of the See House note the driveway, original stair configuration and the
chimney rising from the stone base which corresponds to the interior inglenook. Source:
St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Archives.

An early view of the See House. This may be the earliest view dated ¢.1905-1910. Note that
the shingle siding does not appear to be weathered or stained. Source: St. Peter’s by-the-Sea
Archives.
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Drawing sheet by George Nelson for the 1956 addition to the See House illustrating the west and south s, including
the entry to the upstairs apartment Source: St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Archives.
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Drawing sheet by George Nelson for the 1956 addition to the See House illustrating the west, east and south s,
including the entry to the upstairs apartment Source: St. Peter’s by-the-Sea Archives.
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APPENDIX C: NATIONAL REGISTER NOMINATION

Miller, Isabel, Alfred Mongin and Alaska Division of Parks. “See House.” National
Register of Historic Places, Registration Form, Sitka, Alaska, August 1977.

Mongin, Alfred and Alaska Division of Parks. “St. Peter’s Church.” National
Register of Historic Places, Registration Form, Sitka, Alaska, March 15, 1977.
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":Sendtcrs. Mike Gravel

Founﬂo 10300 -R“ \0’7&‘ o

bNiTLDSTA_Fib D&PAR rMLm OF TiiL t
S NATiONAL PARK SERVICE .

NA’I'IONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
~ INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

'}.‘ed SLevens,

"SEE iNSTRUCTEONS IN HOW TO COMPLETE NATIONAL REGISTER FORMS |
TYPE ALL ENTRiES -~ COM PLETE APPL!CABLE SECTtONS

nNAME ST
isTORIC %){“ L ) ) oo
St Peter 5 Cnurch (AHR., Site No. qrm«ozg)
" AND/OB COMMON ' _ .
St ?eter s F‘piseopal Church- St Peter s by the Sea "
CSTREETE, NUM8ER
611 Lj.ucaln SLreet __NOT FOR PUBLICATION
ohY.ToWN L : ~ CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICT
Sltka " . VICINITY OF ‘Alaska, at large
“STATE ) £ODE. v " COUNTY - R (s o]
Ala ka 02 Sitka : - 220
ﬂcmssmmnom : o
COWNERSHIP - STATUS ..U U UPRESENTUSE
. _puslie - BoCCuPED | --AGRICULTURE ~  .MUSEUM .
X.auswmcqs; _'_-.X.«Pawms e AINOCCURIED L —COMMERGIAL  ...PABK
e BOTH - ~-WORKINFBOGRESS. .~ EDUCATIONAL _m_?nwmsﬂﬁsmmce
PUBLICA&:QU!SITION - ACCESSIBLE - _."__«..EN_rgam_i_nMEN_T _Xamsious
—INPROCESS | oL EYES: RESTRICTED L GOVERNMENT- . SCENTIFIC
"'._._eums couswenao o . YES: UNRESTRICTED . " " L INDUSTRIAL. . - ~-TRANSPORTATION -
' : RO ' —MIUTARY: ....OTHER
'OF PROPER’I'Y
Mrs. Clyde Tennant. . e
_Senior: ’w‘arocn o (907) 7473503
" STBEET & HUMBER = '
Bt, Peter's Church P 0. Box 1356
CHY,TOWN : : - STATE
Sirka VlCINiTYOF Alaska 99835
ELOCATION OF LEGAL DESCRIPTION
- COURTHOUSE.

REGISTRY OF DEEDS.ETC. District Recorder

"STREET & NUMBER
P.0. Box %10

CITY. TOWN
Sitka

STATE
Alaska

- TIREPRESENTATION IN EXISTING SURVEYS

TITLE

Alaska Heritage Rescurua Sufvey (AHRS)

TTDATE
‘ October 24, 1972

FEDERAL 'X_smrs .mccurmf ,._mcm

. DEPOSITORY FOR

SURVEY RECORDS  Alaska Division of l’arks, Suite 210 619 Warehoube Ammue
CITY. TOWN o CSTATE"
Anchorage Alaska 99501
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: CUUUCGONDITHAN T CHEGKONE . GHEGKONE -
CRGEXCRLENT. T . _OETERIORATED .. T NALERED a Luawmsn: _
. FAIR - T —ARERPOSED .o TR

DESCRIBE THE FRESENT AND QRIGINAL (IF KNOWRHN). FH‘! SICAL APPEA RRNGE

The general plan for this ‘bullding was described at Ehe organizing LOHfEEEﬁCL of
the Bullding Copmitrree in June 1899, a6 fuliuws..

. The Chapel is desipned to seat one hundred and thirty people angd is 30 x 50
fect inside, and of a compopite gorhic style of architecture. The foundation,
‘walla gnd buttress are of stone masonry, zbove which walls ave of open cimber .
Frame work to o heipht of § feec, fulled with stene, allowing the timbers to
. ..show on the wall., Above the roof, the walls will be finished wiLh szained
" sghingles. & small belfry will be mounted on the roof,

" Windows and door of stained glass will add ateractiveness to the intericr
which will bo finished 4n ciled spruce with ¢pen voof trusses alao olled.
The interier Ffinish of the roof will also be ceiling spruce in panels, eiled
in the same msnner. o

- Thia fs how it was envisioned, that is how if was bulli, and that iz what 1E looks
Jdike to this day. There are some additionsal details, not mentioned abowve, such
as the entry porch, but these are wmere detpils, acd vere integrated into a desipn
~ fully eovisloned by the architect from the instructions communicated to him dn
~persopn by Peter Trimble BRowe, The Bishop wi Alaska, While the structure ias 4n
.the Gorhie atyle, it has litile of Gothic structural slemests, bub embodies
effecrively the centre pointed desipn througheut i1cs major inbarilor and extericr
- elements In the major desipn finiseh and femestration of the lights in the encrance .
~ -{south) and alvar {north) walls, in the parzllel rows of stained glass small windews
~along the side {east and west) walls of the chapel. A soft worth light illumines.
. -the altar vhrough & large nine papel centre poinged window, while ehe view from
. the front ateps 1s of the harbor and the sea, literally at the deorstep of this .-
charch, set bere for the beauty of the sice, which this building has enhanced - '
<.gince JB94, ' .
. This cowntry church is deceptively simple dn appearance. Its design ac first glaoce’
appesars similar co many other small councry churches, and to a few others in Alaska. - -
“Upon further examination, it appears thar the design has been executed with z unity .
of purpose, in copplement to the site that resylts io a bu;ldinu whose form is
- gxpressive of its Function in every dimensicn.

At a later date an adjcicing building lot, adioining E.l‘le church Iot on the novth,
. was acquired, and the See House was builf to a design vomplementing the chuerch )
“building. The remsins of the ficst Eplscopal Bishop of Alaskas, Peter Trimble Rcw,'
and these of his first wife and one of their sons, are buried on the Eront lawn D
wE the Churrhh marked }::y umbuusive gmund 1&\!&1 Brave, sLnnr;:b, '
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K SIGNIFICANCE

PERIOD AREAS DF SIGNIFICANCE -- CH ELK AND JUSTIFY BELOW

—PREHISTORIC  _ARCHEOLUGY-PREMSIONIC | . CUMMUNTY PLANNING  _LANDBCAPE ARCHAECTLAE - AELIGION
—800-1489 | _ARCREOLDGY-HISIGRAIL . CONSERVATDN LA BRI 2 e
—1ARU-1588 | __AGRICULTURE _ ECONOMICS —LETEHATURE. ) . —SCULPTURE .
—1500-18688 . XARCHITECIGAE __EBUCATION —MILITARY . S SOTIALHUMANITAALAN
1001 GG AAT — ERGHNEERING —-MUsIC . .. . THEALER L
X 1goc-tass —~COMMERCE KEAPLORATIONSETTLEMENT © . FHILOSOPHY ' C L TRANSPORTATION -
e 1 TEHD- o COMMURICATIGNG —IHDUSTRY T POLTICSGOVEANMENT —FFHER {BPELIFY
el BOVE N TR ’ ) .

SPECHICDATES | aq0 U BUILDERAARCHITECT Archlt?ct:-JH.Lo.ﬂubrlﬂgs dr

Rhiladephia, Denn,
STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE - 77 77 e “Bullder: John W. Dudley,.

Birka, Alusks

This country chureh {s sipnificant for {ts architectural design. It embodies
design elements, and a unity of concepriop related to 1ts distinctive sire location,
that give it high arcistic value and represent the work of masster builders of that

BISTORICAL NARRATIVE!

‘Tradition relates that Bpiscopal lay sezvices were held In Sitka, Alaska, botween

2867 and 1885, first by an ancnymous Army colonel and subsequently by a Mr. Auscin.
cAfrer 1885 there were no Episvopal sevvices in Sitka until the arrdwval of the Firar. .
Epiecopal Blahop of alashka, Pete;lwgimh;a.ﬂawe, in 1594, o IR

Bishep Rowe arrived in Sitka in April 1896, following his November 30, ‘1895, con-. ' .
Becrebation in the Cathedral of Se. Jobn. the Devine, New York City. - The newly B
ingtalled Bishop jumediately obtained quarterg for his family, and departed for.- -
-the Yukom River) vis the Chilkoot Trail, to observe first hand the nature of the-
responsibilicy which he had accepred. Upon returning to Sitks in Hoyewber, Bighop
Rowe. conducted services on Thanksgiving Day, November 26, 1896 - a yvear follpwing,

and g workld distant, from the scene of his consecration, From then onward Bishop . -
Bowe conducted services regularly when he was in Sitka. He immediately saw the. o

need £ov a church for his new Bishopric one that would be somewhat more tmpasing .

than the cabis-chapels he then had available, but not so expensive a§ to be ~ . °

unreachable, wi

An affluent couple from Utica, Hew York, who visited Sltka the sumner of 1897, _
contacted Bishop Rowe upon returning to thedir home, and offered $2,000 towdsrd the . .-
bullding of a church in Sitka, It wap remarked, in later vearsa, that the Bishop. .
was . , . such a darped bumsn, lovable cuss, somehow, that wherever he. goes he ™
starts a stawpede for heves." 1his offer was the first move in what became . a.
gtampede to bulld this church. o

A committee formed to locate and purchase z suitshle site. The comnitiee included
the 0.5, Arrorney for AJaska, Burten E. Beanetlt, Willfam Millmore, and Edward -

de Groff. A commirtes of women raised money for the purchase. These women
ineluded Mrz, Bennett and Mrs, DeCroff. 4 lot of the crascent of the harbor was
chosen and purchassd Tor $800 (oome accounts gay 750 Erom Perer Panamarkofi.
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mGE OGRAPHICAL DATA.
"ACHEAGE UF NOMINATED PROPERTY leas than one acres
LITM REFERENCES
Fr & 750

ci"'i ! li 1 f Pl { by ;'r I i |.!. _ 9_L|_.! L_...t.ml..,‘l i | _I! L :i* i !-!

YERDAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

‘Lot €115, Blogk 13,

LIST ALk STATES AND COUNTIES FOR PROFERTIES OVERLAPPING SYATE OR COUNTY BQUNDARIES =~ T

B14TE CODE COLNTY TORE
GIATE CODE CAuNTY R T T3
fEBiFORM PREPARED BY

NAME FTTLE

Alfred Mongin, Architectural Historian Marech 15, 1977
GROANIZATIGN RATE. T

Alaska Bivision of Parks 907y 2745-46TH

STAEET & NUMBER “TELEPHONE

619 Wareshousae Avenue, Suite 210 Alasks

CiTY O TOWH - -S‘MTE B

Anchaorage

' '-'f_. STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICER CERTlFICATiDN

, THE EVALUATED SIGNFIGANCE OF THIS PROPERTY WITHIN THE STATE 15:
NATIONAL ___ sTatE LOCAL

o As the designuted Sty Hislorls Poesetvation Dfficoer far the Natianat Historic Preservation Act of 1986 [Public Law 88-BGE) |
|- hersby nomingte thu. ;:-mp;.ny for taciusion in the Mational Aegister snd certify :ha: i hds feen avaiuumd gecosding 10 e .
. cmuria and pqudu Fe5 S5t forth by the Mationsl Park Service. :

STAYE HiSTORIC PRESEAVATION UFFICER SIGNATURE b.ﬁ@-‘(;m 4 W

DATE f//é?ﬁ/v‘?.:m“ |

SoLiMD ER2. 4T
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Foum Mo 1¢H 300
IFEy. Y0-T4]1

UNITERSTATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOKR

FEH:N_PS,'.USEJ}HLY-:
NATIONAL PARK SEAVICE Lo

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES . T Jﬁlﬂ g 1.-!?9?8 i
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM “’“E.“‘.E“E“ ' S
St. Peter's Church {AHES S51TE NO. SI7-029)
CONTINUATION SHEET ITEM NUMBEX 8 PAGE 1L of 3

‘The read alonp the erescent thew called Beach Road, i3 now called Liccoln Styeet,
While bhe largest individusl coocriburors included Benpner, Millmoxe, debGroff, James
Shoup, and W. ¥. Mills, the full iist of donors was .z long one, lucluding such
pames as €. L. Andrews, }ater sotable for his wrirings om Alasban and Sitka hiatory,
and €. C. Geprgeson, an eofficial of che Deparcment of &grlculLure and ploneer
gxperimenter in Arctic farming techniques.

Bishop Bowe prepared specifications of his conception of what the church should
lock like and hew it should be desimned, and what the Reetory {rhe "See House'
should look like and cootain. & meetfing of o committee af the towm's leading
citizens convened early in Seprember 1898 at the Bishop's house to dizcuss these
ideas and cheir executlon. Presenl were Messrs, deGroff, Bennett, and W. L. Distin.
Joho W. Pudley, and G, D. Clayett. Following discussion, a metlon carried
unaniowusly that the Bishop’s conceptione for the church and house be conveved by
the Bighop to an grchitect to translate into worklup drawings and specifications,
durkng the Bishop's fortheoming trip to the Bast Coast. The meefing alse elected

& building committge for the project, with debeoff as Chairman, Dudley as Secpetary,
and C. 5 Juhnsun, Cels W, L. Disein, and W, P.. Ncﬁridc, completing nh& mEmbershlp.

‘Goon after tha weeting in Sitka, Bishop Rowe traveled to the East Coast on the
-business of his See. A Philadelphla philanthropist, Ceerge C. Thumas, sngaged
- Philadelphia architect, H.. 1. Puhring, Jr., to prepare plans and specifications ..
“for the church and the See House. Georpe C. Thomas, many bimes a benefactor of
oissionary work in Alsska, was Treasurer of the Board of Missions of the Episcopal
Church. . -In his professional life he was Manager of rhe banking firm of Drexel,
Morgan and Company, 3 major affiliate in Philadelphia of 2. P. Morgan and Company.,
Mr. Thomas' interest in Alaska wmight have been related also to the fnvestment o
getivitles in Seattle and in souCheast Alugka of J. P. Morgan's liectle koaown, but
aost Impartant, eob-in~law, William Hamilten,

The cornerstone laying was scheduled for Fhursday, Juue 29 -~ St, Peter's Day,

and the church would be ¢allad 3¢, Peter's-By-The-Sea™, John W. Dudley, Recorder
jn §itka for the General Land Qffice {now the Bureau of Land Management) had
‘undertaken to supervise construction according co the architect's plans. Only

the church was to be built ar that time, the See House deferred zo a later date.

Mr. Dudley had completed the foundation work by Juuse 29, and had ‘erected a temporary
shelter over the Fpundation, large enough to sccommedare che town's clergy - and

the congregation. This was Eortunate, because rain fell, in typical Sitka fashios,

all
the
the

day, without intermission, and continued through the 4:00 p.w, hour set for
orperstong cetemony.  Consaduently, in typleal Sirks fashion, the turnoat for
impressive snd solemn serviee was relatiwvely lsrge and enchusiascic.
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Form fa t0-3008
iHew. 10-74¢

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF IHLiI\Il RIOR '
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE .

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
 INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM DATE ENTERED

St, Peter's Church . {ABRS SITE ¥O, SIT-029)

CONTINUATION SHEET e NuMBER © page <+ of 3

‘Forming with Bishop Rowe for the ceremongy were Father Anthony and Father Kutakokouok
of the Kussian Orthodox Church, and Rev, M. B. McCielland of the Presbyterian Church.
Followlng the Order of Service -- Psalm, Versicles, Special Frayers, Spripture g
Lesson, and Psalm 136 ~— Bishop Rowe intrpduced Lt. George T. ¥mmens, USN, who
delivered a paper on the History of Sitka —- written for deposit in the corngrstone.
Eishop Rowe than read a list .of the materials to be. deposlted in the CDInﬁrBtﬂﬂE of .
the Lhuth ' : S

. The Alaskan Issue of June 24, 189%.
- The Church Standard, Juns 3, 1829, published in Philadelphia, Yennsylvanda,
' A list of Bishops of the American and Anglican branches of the Catholie
' Church from the Apostles to the present day.
* ‘The historical skefch of Sitka, prepared and read that day by kL. Gﬁurga T.
' Emmong, USH.
4 ligt of . the clery of Alaska.
- Hames of'the church building committee, contracter, ete.
" -Loing of £he Natiomal currency, & Queen®s Jubllee crnwn, a Columblian
" half-crown, 3 cent of 1803, a half-cent -of 1804 and other coins
presented by Mr., F. Woodcock, a Russian coln presented by Father
Anthouy; an English penny, bhall-penny, and a Canadian flVL cent
piece, presented by Miss M., G. Hindshaw. .
A shall from the Ses of Galilee,
Twe small size American flags.

‘Rev, W. M. Partridege next delivered a short address relatdve to cornerstones ang -
-the histerical signifivance of laying cornerstones, The choflr and cungregaulon
Bang, "ALl Hail the Power of Jesus Name,” and the service clesed, with the h
Benediction, proncunced by the Bishop.

In September 189%%, as the church venstruection near completion, an offer was accephed -
from a Mr. and Mrs. Bauer to furnish three stained glass windows, and from Miss
Mary Rhicelander, of New York (ity, to provide a cemmunion service. Miss Rhine-.
‘lander, iike Mr. Thomss, shaved famiiy 4nd business isterests with J,. P, Mﬂrgan

and Cowmpany, and was a benefactor of mauy pood causes. - .

fs construction progresscd, Bishop Rowe, in his characteristic way, did much of
the stone work himsetf, and the front wall of the church he boilt entirely with
his own hands. The Bishop's blographer, Fhomas Jenking, wrote that one day while
Bishop Rowe worked av the wall a man came sauntering alemg. "Well, PBishop,™ he
remarked, "you are workisg to beat the devil * - Replied the Bighop, '"Yes, he's
the very cne E'm irying to bear!® T
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Fosm N $0-340
IRy, 19:78)

NATI{}NAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

UNITED STATES BLPARTMENT OF lHL IMt REUR TFOR NPS FSEONLY:
NAHDNALF‘ARH SERAVICE | . S v

INVENTORY--NOMINATION FORM - - SATEENISRED.JAKS LRI
§c. Peter's-Church  (4HRS SETE N0. §17-029) '

CONTINUATION SHEET ' U\TEMNUMBER O - paGE 3ot 3

“fhﬁ'ﬁew .church witnessed its. initfal Bervice:ﬁn Novewber 26, 1899, 'ﬁ'ThanksgivinE 'J'.”

Service #n. which Bishop Rowe shared tha. yostrum with Father Anthony of the Greek.
Cathedralk, and at least IO different denomlnations of Christians were 1n attendance.

A furmﬁl gervice of consecragion for the. butlding was held on Easter Sunday, April 15, -

19064,  -As. the home church of the Bighop, -this was the mosE: ‘Amporeant -Episcopal Church
in Alaskas. This plechuresque: ‘building ot ft= importance with the decline of Bitka, Jlf'
when the capital was remgved and all the courts and officials’ of the Tdsrrick wvere:
removed to Juneau, where the BlEtrlCL would- becnmﬂ g -Territory. Pue to pther

factors thap merely the decline: of Sitka with 'the removal pf-the capital - -to Juneasu,
Biskop Rowe moved his See to;Segttla;jand'con;inugd:his'xgarly crugades from there,

poth to the farthest reaches of Alaska, and ‘e the far veaches of the Easnern'Unltad

 Btates, from whence had ro . come his moral and 1&5&1 Buppurt aud the whﬁrew1thall
- for hkim ta serve his flack thxnughuut Alaska S ) . .

This lcvely RESS AT church, conte1ved in the: fartxla brain- of ‘pne uf tha mast in— -
 describably of - men’ who -ever served. humanity in Alaska, Peter Trimble- Rowe, " ﬁontlnues

its. sereng way,- aerv1ng “the Epilscopal congregation now ag’ 4n 18929, while continuing

.to draw attention ro itseli .28 ap architectural Jewel in, the dladem of. Eltka 5 ”1{.
.Grﬁbcent Harbar shﬂre. s PR : . '

13fﬁne VlﬁlEDr, Ella HigglrSDR, puaL;Aed her ‘impressions uf EL- Petel s~By*Thﬂ*ﬁca,i:”
:”and sent 1t to Blshup Rowe. It reads, in parts - : ~ ST

_'_"}.he little Church at Sitka—-
oIt is a0 dim and stilll
" The doors stand open te the sea,
“fhe wind goes through at will
And bears the scent of brine and blue
To the far disLanL hill,
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For o, 102008
(Hew, 10.74)

UNITED STATES BEPART MUNT OF THE INTLRIOR Fonnas-.us&-nhtt;
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE R

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES s
INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM - - SRR

St..Peters Epiacopal Church  {ARRS SITE NO. SIT-G29)

CONTINUATION SHEET ITEM NUMBER o PAGE 1 of 2

~Alaskan, The, August 6, Seprember 10, 1398 Hay 2?, June 24, July 1, fugust 26,
-Septamher 9, becember I, 1899

Brown, Phyllis, "The Sea Huuse, The Parish House of the Episcopal Church, 5.
Peter's By the Sea.™ 1 page. Typescript for the Bitka Volunteexr Histcrric:
Freservarion Committes. Februar}r 1977,

Larpenter, Frgnk Gy ﬁlaska Jur Rorthern anderlgnd. H.¥Y., Doubleday Yage & Co., 1843,

lardcastle, Romaine, Alaska Day Festival, Ipe. /Sitka, 18547/.

Nemson, Alice Pace, "The Real Sitka." Iravel, Vol. 1%, May 1912, Pages 26-29..

‘Bistorical Sketch of St. Pgter's-ﬂy*thafﬁea, 1899-1949. 3 papes. (/Sitka, 19497/,

.Jenkins, Thomas, The Man of'Alaakﬁa Peter Trimble Howe, ¥H.Y¥., Morchouse-Gorham, 1943.
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CcoNpmoN. .CHECK ONE ' GHEGK ONE

UBACEMENTS T _DETRRORATER. T - Fonwnerensn P -'__}E.-.DHJGmA;. I BRI

B __RING : . Emmﬂeu e —MOVED BATE e e e

X - S L fgﬁ‘i’fﬁ' SR
__FAMR —UNEXFOEED L _;E#?

"RﬂwE, dpparently placed: h&re ac-the time of his “burial in-1942 on the lawn.of
Zstn

" DESCREBE THE. FﬂﬁSENT AN OHiGiMAL HF KNDWN? PH‘I’SI:CAL AFE’EAHAHCE

“Fhis house was designed and bullt to compl&mant SL. Peter! s-ﬁy-thc-ﬂaﬁ. It

- wag-desigoed to be Gothic in appearance, thotgh not io construction principlés.
‘The firge Bishop of Alaska, Feter Trimble Rowe, drew his concepeion for che house
do the £411 of 1895, ar the same cime he drew sketches of his cenceprion of whar
St. Peter's should be. Architectural plans for the house appear to have been
executed by Philadefpiia arehicect H. L. Duhring, Jr., at the expense, and as a
benefaceion, of Ceorge C. Thowss, of Philadelphia, The howse was not huilL in -
182%, when the chureh was builr, due, apparestly, to laLk of funds.

The shape of the house 15 an almost irrepular rectangle, with bays juttirg out
te the west from che side walls, to take advantage of the view over Beach Road L
{now Lincoin Street} to the harbor and the sea. The building is set upon 2 salid -
foundation which sppears to be primarily of cencrete or cement. The basemeng -
cwas uged from dta warliest deya for clagsropms, meetings, aod other church

functions, as it {s today. The main second floors have the exposed timber N
‘appearance of a Gothic mansion, lightened by large windows on all aides which.””
svillumine the basically good proportiong of the rooms and provide an aura of -

‘natyral {1lumination providing welcome igaven to the otherwise somber-cast of A
-the desipn, There is a large kitchen and pantyy, and oversize living, dining and . "
- family roows, all of which appear to have been designed with a view to their uses = @
asFunetional elements of the church grganization for St. ‘Perer's, and as the
jhe&dqﬁarLers for the Eplscopal Church in Alaska, as well as the home of the
Bishop's family, " The secoad floor has s bath, three bedrooms,-and the Bishop's
stud3+“;“,..”.” Sl T T ST e e

Since the hDuSE functlons now as the Rﬂctory for 8t. Peter's Ehurah "and thL" i
church is now hetween Rectors, bthe houge iz being used now only for church bu51ness,:
and - the fapily ‘bedropms age. unoccupied and wnfurnished. - The study oo the second - ;
flogr, is, hﬂwever, Ppartislly furnlshed. The last Rector had the yoom redecorated.. .
spmewhat garishly., This should be conmidered for return to the period of Peter . %
‘Trinble Rowe, which muld bf.. dmm 11. the COUEEE of’ imrmal redecorul.ma for an o
..incmumg I‘asm:. . _ B
-’I‘he ati.:.c-, is a full fini.shed. loor. which haa be:en used at varinus times fur day-.
'jclaBEes and Sunday sehool cldsﬁes, and iz used BEill for etorage of church recurda.fT
In-one place intihe ackio are: persanal records and posgessions of Peter Trimble.

- Perer's Church. These artifacts. include personal rveferemce books, includlv
Al ‘met of the Encyclopedia Brittanica, his personal portable. piano grgan, and

':'“appaantly a.quantity of hig personal notes and diaries —---all of them of’ gr&at

.potc,nuai et a;chival and h;s:armal dc:::umeni:s a&d Buseun drt;fdcts. R
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CONRITION. © U cMeckoNE - UCHECK ONE

U EXCELRENY. - _DETERIORATED. . . - Mgaitersn - i -_.._}E.,::ﬂuauma. s RO
Goos —RING : AR '}‘;A:,Tfaen '..,QW“ ﬂ\ﬂﬁ;\ —MOVED T BATE . N
> Faim __UNEXPOSED «:,L# 1(}‘,,; ' Lo

"DESCRIBE THE. FﬂESENT mw DitGINAL {iF muwm Pmrsrcm. AFPE&HAHCE o

“Phigs house was deslpned and buiiL to complemant St. Petar! s-By-thc Sea, It

was. designed te be Gothic in appearance, thouwgh not io conatruction principlés.
The first Bishop of Aluska, FPeter Trimble Rowe, drew his conception for che house
dn the £211 of 1893, ar the same cime he drew sketches of his eonceprion of whar
5t, Peter’s should be. Architectural plans for the houmse appear to have been
executied by Philadelphia architect H. L. Duhrisg, Jr., at the expense, and as a
benefaction, of George C. Thowss, of Philadelpiiis, The houvse wad noi builL A
1898, when the church was buile, due, appareatly, to lack of funds, '

The shape of the house Is an almost irregwlar rectangle, with baye jutting out

to the west from the side walls, to take advantage of the viesw over Beach Read -
{new Lincoln Streec) o the harbar and the sea. The building s set upon & sakid - .
foundaticn which appears to be primarily of concrete or cement. The hasemeny =

was uged from 1ts earlfest duys for classrooms, meetings, and other church
functiens, as ii Is today. The main second Eloprs have the exposed timber
Jappearance of a Gothic manston, lightened by large windows om all aides which

Soillumine the basically good proporrions of the roems and provide an sora of -

zlnEGMLHB EasLur."'

_natural Tilumination providiag weleome leaven to the otherwise somber cast of k
the degign., There is a large kitchen and pantry, and oversize livipg, dining and . -
‘family rooms, -all of which appear to have been desipned with o view to ‘their uses .

HE fun;tiunal ‘elements of the church oyganization for 5t. ‘Perer's, and as the

‘headquarters for the Episcopal Church in Aleska, as well as the home of the

Bishop's Iamlly.. ‘The second flooy has o bath, three bedropms,-and the Bishop's
stedyy U T L L T

Since ‘the housg Functions now as the Rﬂctory for §t. Peter's Church, and the T
church is now bhebween Rectors, the house is being used now only for church bu51ness,
and ‘the family ‘bedrooms are. vaoccupied and unfurnished.  The study on the second -

flpor, is, however, pariislly furnished. The last Recror had the room redocoratﬂd .
somewhat garishly. This should be considered for return to the period of Ferer o .0
Trimghie Rowe, which cuuld be done 1h the cqurse of ncrmal redecpxaLlna for an"“'

_'The atL.i_r.: is a full iinish.ed flooz. which ‘has been used at variouﬁ times far day-.
clagees and Sunday school clagses, and iz used still for etorage of church recurda-'"

Inone pld;e inthe &Ltlﬁ are: yersonal records and posgeeslions af Feter Trimble. .

__Ruﬁg, dppdrently ‘plaged here ac'the time of his ‘burdial in-1942°on the lawn. of

Peter's Church. 'These artifacts include personal reference books, includlvgn':ﬁ'

:ifd ‘set of the Encyclepedia Brittanica, his personal portable - piano CEEAT, dnd
oo apparently 3 quantity of his personal notes and diaries -- a1l of them of graat
:;1put¢ntlai a8 archival and h;sgqucal documﬂnﬁs a&ﬂ mus&um drtlfdﬁtﬁn. o
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&3 SIGNIFICANCE

FPERHID AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE - CHECK AND JUSTIFY BELDW
~BREHISTARIC ~ _ARCHEULUSW-PHEHISIGAIC . COMMUNITY FLAMNING ~  _ LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE  _ RELEGION
_1400- 14839 —ARCHEDLOGY-MISTOAIL . . CONSERVATION LW : . CHENCE
. 1EOD-TE53 —AGRICULTURE . _LECDNOMICE - bl TERATLIFE . —SCLULPTURE :
— 1801688 . AHCHITECTURE c- 0 _ EDUGATION e MEHTARY - Ji:yucmurmm.a.nm
17001798 LLART . EHGINERRING L MUSIC L THEATER
—HOQ- 18599, - —-LCMMERCE . ' C—ERPLORATIONABETTLEMENT . _ PHILGSOPHY T Lo TRAHSPOATATION "
AT —COMMINICATIONS . NDUSTRY ; ._EDLITH?-ﬁ:GD'v'EHNMENT_-' —OTHER {SPECIFYI

B —INYENTHON '

SPECIFIC DATES  1gps sUtLDER/ARCHITECT B L. Pubring, Jv, from desigo-

by Petpar Trimhle Rower huilt by

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE B Peter drimble Rowe

This building ig sipnificant as the home and headquarters of Bishop. Peter Trinble

Rowe, the First Episcopal Bistop of Alaska, which he conceived in his own mind, buile:

with bhis own hands, and from whence bLe'went forth on seven of his appreximately
46 Journeys, often alone, to the far norch and west reaches of the Alaskan sub-
coutinent,. building and staffing hospitals, libravies. and schoo LB, and &ht4biish—
jng miaﬁiﬂn ﬂhuthES an Lhe last ﬁmerigdn iranrler.._.- S .

HISTDRIGHL EI&R_RAT I".-’E:

‘Peter 1rimhle nge was the [lrst Episcopal Bishop of Alaska. In April 18%6 he
gatablished his headquarters at Sitka, found quarters for his family, and left

tmmediately for the interior Lo seg for himself what it was he.must do In his- uewly._ 

aecepted. choarge.  He traveled over the Chilkat Trail te the Yukan, transporting -

“his pwn dunnage and budlding his own beoaks, as necessary -- o vears-hefore the S
Kiondike gold stampede. “le earky established that be would be a leading missiunaryT_'

in fact to.both Alaskapn Hatives and to Sourdoughs —- as-well.as in pave. FTuriog -
the ensuing years: that he.served ~- irﬁm 1893 until his death in 1942 -~ he'made

.apprnxxmately 46 guch. journeys between goutheastern Alaska,:the length of - nhe Eukﬂn“_-

-River; north to Nome, and west te.the Aleutians, often.all in the same trip.  He

- estahlished asd: staffed hospitals," ‘libraries, and schools, ‘and - established’ mlssiqa;f .

.churches to serve the aeeds of both ‘khe Harives awd the inanLng Scurdenghs.. - He

. worked tirelegssly to create a bridge for the Natives betueen their past and’ th#irz~_lﬁ
future, and te provide aid and succor te the Spurdovsh hordes who often’ mindlessly o
descended upon the vast wilderness wnprepared to cope with its relentliess demands. .

upsn the human mind and body. He was the Episcopsl Bishop of Alaska, but he . was.
slge, to {he -rest of the country, the Bishop frem Alaska, beconlog a nationally
celebrared figure, based upon his accomplishuents in Alaska and the effectivences
with which he cavvied his message of need to the Easrern estabiistment of the
church and of the goveroment, and to the press. Over the 47 vears of his service
~to Alaska he repeatedly rebuffed attempts to transfer him to elevated positions

.__Df authority aad honor in the chureh at places of. fax less demand upoi hia physinal_ .

. POWETE.

The fame - and honors bestowed upon Bishep Rewe are Jeglion, and a brief acvcoung of
them must Inevitably fall short of any adequate treatment. What is impuriant here

is that the house he built represents ong of the few physical 1ﬁ&dLiﬂ§ of h:b
work that remain as he creaLed them,_" :
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£l SIGNIFICANCE

PERIOD AREAS OF SIGNIFICANCE - CHECK AND JUSTIFY BELDW
~PREHISTORIC | ARCKEULUGY-PREMISTORID . —COMMUNITY FLANKING  __LANDECAPE ARCHITECTURE  _.RELIGHON
_ 34001588 _ARCHEDLGGY-HSTORAIE | . CONSERVATIDNS C _w © _SCHEMNCE
—502-1658  __AGRICULTURAE | _ECDHGMILS - ~lITERATURE — SO PTURE
—l&bi-1588 AR TECTURE - __EDUCATION T e NELATARY . RSOCALHUMANITAR
_1760-1798 L ART .. —ENGINEERING MBI © —THEATER
18001898 _ COMMERCE .. —_EXPLORATION/BETTLEMENT - _ PHILBSTRHY " L.TRANSPORTATIDN -
X sopn —COMMUMCATIONS © . — INDUSTRY . POLFICEGOVEANMENT. _.OTHER (SRECIFY|

S —IHYERTION
SPECIFIC DATES 1505 BUILDER ARCHITECT H.- L. buhriag, Jr. from dﬂsigﬂi B
by Peter Trimhle Rowe- hiili by

STATEMENT OF SIGHIFICANGE o © Perer Trimble Rowe

- fhis building ig significant as the home and headquarters of Bishgp Peter Trinble
: . ftowe, the First Episcopal Bishop of Alaska, which he conceived in his own mind, builp
with his own hands, and from whence le went forth oo seven of his approximately
" 46 journeys, oftes alone, to the far north and west reaches of the Alaskan sube~
~eontinent, huilding and staffing hospirals, libraries apd achoo B, and &htdb.}.iﬂh" :
ing miﬁﬁiﬂu churahea of the last Amer;nan frﬂnrlar. ' : :

'HISIDRICAL NAERATIVE‘

. .Peter Trlmble que was the [lrst Episcopal Bishop of Alaska. In April 18835 he
~ establighed bis-headquarters at Sitha, found Gusrters for his family, and left .
© lmmediacely for the.interior Lo see fo; himself what it was he must’ ‘dodn his. newly'_f-
.- avcepted charge, He traveled over the Chilkat Trail to the Yukon, transporting .
~ . his oun durnage and bullding his own boats, as necessary -- L[wo vears.before the .
Klondike gold stampede. " He early- established that he would be a2 leading misslnnary;
.in fact to horh Alaskan Hatiwves and to Sourdoughs —- as well: 4% in pawe. Burdog o
- the ensuing years that he.served -- fxnm 1893 until his death 4n 1947~~~ he'made
. .approximately. 46 ‘such. journeys between goutheastern Alaska, the kength of the Nukon
.o River, nmorch ro. Nome, and west.to the Aleutians, often.2ll-in. the Bame trip. He o
T established:Hnd'SLaIE&d'hu&pitals;”libraries, and schools, and sstablished wmission - \
5.:churches to gerve the needs of both ‘the Harives and the incoming Sourdounghs.. He |
._..__'.warked tirelessly to create a bridge for the Matives hetueen their past and. th;—_ii_r
. future, and te provide aid ang swcecor te the Spurdovoh hordes who ofren mindlessly oo
descended upon the vast wilderness unprepared to cope with its relentless demands. .
capon the human mind and body, He was the Fpiscopal Bishop of Alaska, but he . was.
ulsg, to-the.resr of the country, the Bishep from Alaska, becomdeg a metionally
- celebrated figure, based upon Ris. accomplishuents in Alaska and the effectivences
with which he carvied his message of need to the Easbern estabidishment of the
-~ church and of the government, amd to the press. Over the 47 years of his service
to Alaskx he repearedly rebuffed attempts to transfer him to elevated positions

. ..of authority and honer in the church af places of. far less demanﬁ upos hla physical_
% POWETS. .

f_ The fame  and honors bestowed upon Bishop Rewe are legion, and & brief aecount. of
thetw must inevitably fall short of any adequate treatment. Whak is 1mpurtan1 here

- .is that the house he buile represents ong of the fow physiﬂal 1d$d£iﬁ$ of his.
. wprk that remain as he created Lhem, '
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NATIONAL PARK SERVICE e
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INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM

See House (AHRE 3ITE RO, 5IT-195)

OATE ENTE RED- -

CONTINUATION SHEET TEM RUIABER ] PAGE P of 7

Since funds were adeguate in 1899 te build only 5t. Peter's Church, he deferred
construction of she See House, for which he siready had architect's plans, bused

upon his cenception fer the house. En 1505, while Mrs. Rowe was in Victoris

for the first of a serics of operations, the Bishop sfaved In Sitkp, rather than
journeying to the interior, and he occupled higself with building the See House.

Tt was gt that time spparencly, that the site.was purchased from Feter Panamarknff .
or bis eatate, as che adjsining church property had been purchased wartier, -Bishop |
Rowe described his work o the house:. e

"Hrs. Rowe has lefe ‘Sitka for ¥ictoria for uedical treatment. [ aum
. zlone, not a new experience, I get my own meals and keep the new
~houge progressing to 2 Findsh, I find it bhard after using the
_-trowel or plane, shevel or hammer, wheelbarrow or paint brush,
-lifeing and placing rocks all day, to handle easily or conveniently
. ar night so small un article as 2 pen. Building this house ig a
precty difficule contract in Sithka, owing to the scarcity of good
workmen apd the long delayed shipments of materials, While the
Shouse is going o be the most complete thing of the kind in Alaska,
_oyet 1e tdes me down, and will do so uppil November. o Then I shall
.- ‘hang up the trowel and. the hoe and be off to- the work that is N
:Lalling Towdly for-me. T shall have to hit the. trall thiz winter,” -

in addlticn to creating vhe house he had earlier enviaiauad his wurk of that
summer Bolved the problem of lack of money for coneructlon.' It alsec probably-
sorved him well in his concern for the health of his beloved wife, who lived ouly
12 years lemger. Their attachment teo this place Is evidenced in that upon his
death 37 years lacer they were both reinterred here in the iawn of Sc._PeLer 5
Churcl,

After the house waes completed, the family occupied 1t for seven vesrs, In 1912,

with the transfer of the major resources of the capical of Alasks to Junesu, Sicka .
declined din dimporeance. Accesa o ships which Bishop Rowe needed to set owe on his .
annual pilgrimages to the Bering Sea, the Yukom, and the Aleurdans, berame un-
available, excepr by journeving first to Seattle. This, in- &ﬁdit:on,.the igeress—

ing neepd of Mes, Rowe for constant medical attention, decided & move of the See’

from Sitka to Seartle, The Sec House, while retaining that name, bacame the home

of the resident clergyman of S¢. Feter's Church, rather than the actuwal headguareers
ef the Bishop of Alaska. Ulcimately, of course, the See was relocated in Fairbanks,
where it is now. . o U R
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NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENTOF T HL i]\ VI RIUH
NATHOMNAL PARK SERVICE -

INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM - - IRATEENTERED.
See Houae {ﬁﬂﬂﬂlg?TE o, SIT-19%;

CONT!NUATION SHEET irem NumBEr 5 page 2 of 2

There are many fine houses in Sitka, and also in other communities in Alaska.
However, thia is the only house £n all Alasks, conceived and built by one who
gtands among the foremost humanitarian figures. In the history of the Te:ri;qry

and state. "Its desipn -was unusual and was his own unigue contribution. The
construction was uuusual, .and was his own waigque contributlcn. The vears between
1645 and 1912 when Bishop Rowe and his fam1ly sccupied the -house wore ‘seminal years

. for the Territory, for the development of the larpe number of hospltals, ‘clinics,

libraries, sphools, orphanapges, and mission churches, that he levated, insrigared,
staffed, apd nurtured; and they, too, were his unigue cuntribu;ipn;r“Fg;;that
period of time this house stands as his homeplace, the home to which he retfurned,

‘plasned for che future, and then ser our again fZor jowrneys which in number, length,

and difficulty, are yet unequalled by any man Ln Lhe mudern hlstory cx Alaska as

jja Telrltnly Lroa ﬁtatg..n
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UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR . '"anupguﬁg

NATIONAL FARK SERVICE -
nﬁcﬂvdbUﬁid 9??

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HESTORIC PLACES .
INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM '_ ”_‘_‘f* ”{'TE

See House {AHRE SITE MO. 51T~195J

CONTINUATION GHEET ITEM MUMBER 9 PAGE T of 1

_'ﬁ]ASkan ThL, Bﬁpttmber IG, 1898 April 1503, Jupe 1, 1903.

”lﬂrﬁwn, Phyllla,i"lhe See House, The Parish House of che Episcopal Church, s, PeLer P
~.-by the 8ga." 1 page. Typﬂscr Pt for the Sitka ‘DlunEELr Hiscorlc Preservatlnn
";Eommxttae February 19?? . . i ) )
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